# Better Use of Molluscicide Pellets for Improved Management of Slugs

**Amy Campbell** 

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Natural and Environmental Sciences Newcastle University September 2020



For my grandmother, Eleanor

# **General Abstract**

The grey field slug, *Deroceras reticulatum*, is one of the most important pests of agriculture, with an estimated 59% and 22% of total planted oil seed rape and wheat respectively affected by slugs in the UK annually. It is estimated that without molluscicides, the cost to the UK's agricultural industry from loss of crop yield due to slug damage could be in excess of £100 million per year. Metaldehyde is the most commonly used molluscicide in UK agriculture however it presents a large water pollution risk and threat to non-target organisms, in addition, control of slugs by metaldehyde is often inefficient.

Understanding how *Deroceras reticulatum's* behaviour is affected by the presence of slug pellets with different molluscicide concentrations, and how these pellets affect locomotion, feeding and the health of a slug once a pellet is consumed will help develop more effective slug pellets. The pest-pellet interaction is a key process in successful slug control and can only be effective if slugs accept and consume a pellet when encountered. This research indicated that the concentration of metaldehyde in pellets does not impact on *D. reticulatum's* foraging activity, however the presence of a molluscicide may impact on foraging behaviour compared to non-molluscicide pellets. *D. reticulatum* was more likely to accept and feed on a pellet of lower concentration (1%) compared to higher concentrations (3% and 5%).

Paralysis due to the effects of molluscicide is likely to be a key factor in successful slug control. Slugs poisoned with 1% or 3% metaldehyde were more likely to be paralysed after exposure to pellets when compared to higher concentrations, however, were more likely to recover after exposure to 1% pellets.

This research has demonstrated that slugs are highly sensitive to metaldehyde. *D. reticulatum* can detect metaldehyde that has been incorporated using inorganic Controlled Release Technology, with as little as 0.28% metaldehyde content. Controlled release technology involving molluscicides is still in its infancy, however, has potential as a future focus for improved pellet design.

I declare that this research herein is my own intellectual property. Dr Gordon Port, Dr. Roy A. Sanderson and Prof. Stephen P. Rushton and Dr. Neil Audsley made contributions to each chapter. Additional contributions to the thesis have been acknowledged appropriately.

Inorganic controlled release formulations trialled in chapter 5 were manufactured and provided by Lucideon LTD. Lonza Axcela® metaldehyde and control grain pellets were manufactured and provided by Lonza.

I am extremely grateful to the Institute for Agri-Food Research and Innovation (IAFRI) for funding this project and for providing me with the opportunity to pursue my research interests. I would like to thank both Newcastle University and Fera Science for enabling me to carry out this research.

I would like to thank Dr. Gordon Port for your leadership and providing me with the knowledge and confidence necessary to complete this research. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Roy Sanderson, Prof. Stephen Rushton and Dr. Neil Audsley for their support and guidance throughout the PhD. I would like to take this opportunity to thank you all for your care, patience and enthusiasm not only during this research, but my entire time as a student at Newcastle.

Thanks also go to Dr. Mark Shirley and Prof. Mark Whittingham for their helpful suggestions and advice.

To my parents, grandmother, and Philip, thank you for all of your support, encouragement and for always being there. To Rowan and Islay, thank you for wandering many miles with me when I needed to refresh, and for being a constant source of motivation, love and support. Thank you for spending countless evenings with me out collecting slugs in the cold.

I would also like to thank Sam for being a wonderful colleague and friend, and providing help, advice and slugs when needed. Thank you for your contributions to data collection for chapter 5. Thank you also to Bex, Ryan and Dan, for listening to both my slug and non-slug related problems, and for all of your friendship.

# Table of Contents

General	Abstract	i	
Declaration of Authorshipin			
Acknow	ledgements	iii	
Table oj	f Contents	iv	
List o	List of Figures		
List o	List of Tables		
Chapter	1: General Introduction	. 1	
1.1	Introduction to the Research	2	
1.2	The Grey Field Slug	2	
1.3	Control of slugs	4	
1.4	Synthetic Pesticides	. 5	
1.5	Problems with Metaldehyde	7	
1.6	Slugs and Pellets: Interactions	8	
1.7	Gastropod Locomotion	9	
1.8	The Biology of Slug and Snail Movement	13	
1.9	Factors Controlling Slug Locomotion	14	
1.9.1 Water availability		14	
1.9	2 Foraging	15	
1.9	3 Trail following	16	
1.10	Chemical Control of Pest Gastropods and locomotion	16	
1.11	Thesis Rationale	18	
Chapter	$\cdot$ 2: The foraging and feeding behaviour of Deroceras reticulatum in the presence of	ſ	
mollusc	icides	20	
2.1 A	bstract	21	
2.2 In	troduction	22	
2.2	1 Deroceras reticulatum and U.K Agriculture	22	
2.2	2 Control of Slug Pests	23	
2.2	3 Inefficiencies with Slug Control	24	
2.2	4 Slug Behaviour and Control	25	
2.3	Aims and Objectives	27	
2.4	Methods	28	
2.4	1 Deroceras reticulatum	28	

2.4.2 Slug Pellets	
2.4.3 Experimental Set Up	29
2.4.4 Statistical Analysis	30
2.5 Results	
2.5.1 Initial pellet encounter	32
2.5.2 Total Pellet Feeding Time	33
2.5.3 Subsequent Pellet Encounters	34
2.5.4 Reacceptance of Pellets	35
2.6 Discussion	
26.1 Initial pellet encounter	39
2.6.2 Pellet Feeding and Between Pellet Foraging	40
2.6.3 Pellet Reacceptance	41
2.7 Conclusion	
Chapter 3: The Fate of Deroceras reticulatum Following Metaldehyde Poisoning	
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	45
3.2.1 The Molluscicide Metaldehyde	45
3.2.2 Secondary Mortality	
3.2.3 Recovery from Metaldehyde	46
3.2.4 The Need to Reduce Metaldehyde Application	46
4.3 Aims and Objectives	
3.4 Methodology	
3.4.2 Pellet Creation	49
3.4.3 Pellet Exposure	50
3.4.4 Slug Recovery	51
34.5 Statistical analysis	52
3.5 Results	53
3.6 Discussion	
3.6.1 Not Paralysed	57
3.6.2 Paralysed	58
3.6.3 Mortality	59
3.6.4 Recovery	59
3.6.5 The Importance of Metaldehyde Concentration	60
3.7 Conclusion	61
Chapter 4: The Potential uses of Inorganic Controlled Release Technology (iCRT) fo	r
Metaldehyde Based Molluscicides	62
4.1 Abstract	63

4.2 Introduction	
4.2.1 Controlled Release Technologies in Agriculture	64
4.2.2 Metaldehyde as a Molluscicide	65
4.3 Aims and Objectives	67
4.4 Methodology	
4.4.1 Slugs	68
4.4.2 iCRT and Pellet Creation	68
4.4.3 Experimental Set Up	68
4.4.4 Data Collection	69
4.4.5 Statistical Analysis	69
4.5 Results	71
4.5.1 iCRT Metaldehyde Formulation 1 Consumption After 24 and 96 Hours	71
4.5.2 iCRT Metaldehyde Formulation 2 Consumption After 24 and 96 Hours	73
4.5.3 iCRT Coated Pellet Formulation Consumption After 24 and 96 Hours	75
4.6 Discussion	
4.7 Conclusions	
Chapter 5: General Discussion	
5.1 Thesis Overview	
5.2 Summary of Chapters	
5.3 Metaldehyde Ban	
5.4 Final Conclusions	
Bibliography	
Appendix 1: Pellet Baiting Points	
Appendix 2: Slug Pellet Formulations	

**Figure 1.1** Disciplines contributing to the study of animal behaviour. Venn diagram by 11 Derby and Sorensen (2008).

**Figure 1.2** Pedal waves and interwaves on the ventral surface of the foot of the Banana 14 slug (*Ariolimax californicus*) moving along a glass surface. Taken from Lai et al. 2010.

**Figure 2.1** Median time taken for *Deroceras reticulatum* to contact the first pellet in a 14-hour trial (n =30 per treatment). Boxes represent upper and lower quartile ranges while whiskers represent minimum and maximum times and white circles indicate outlying data. Black circles indicate the average time taken in minutes to find a pellet and contact a pellet.

**Figure 2.2** Total time *Deroceras reticulatum* spent feeding on slug pellets throughout a 14-hour trial (n=30 slugs per treatment pellet). Boxes represent upper and lower quartile ranges while whiskers represent minimum and maximum times and white circles indicate outlying data. Black circles indicate the average time *Deroceras reticulatum* spent feeding on all pellets over 14 hours.

**Figure 2.3** Median time between first and second pellet encounter for *Deroceras* 34 *reticulatum* when exposed to pellets over a 14-hour trial (n=30 per treatment pellet). Boxes represent upper and lower quartile ranges while whiskers represent minimum and maximum times and white circles indicate outlying data. Black circles indicate the average time between contact with the first and second pellet.

**Figure 2.4** Number of *Deroceras reticulatum* that fed on a pellet when encountered for the first time in a 14-hour trial (n= 30 per treatment). White bars (Yes) indicate that the slug accepted and fed on a pellet, and grey bars (No) indicate that a slug either did not encounter or rejected a pellet once encountered and did not feed.

37

54

55

**Figure 2.5** Number of *Deroceras reticulatum* that encountered a secondary pellet and fed on it having already encountered a pellet in a 14-hour trial (n= 30 per treatment pellet). White bars (Yes) indicate that a slug reaccepted a secondary pellet and grey bars (No) indicate that a slug either encountered a secondary pellet but rejected it as a food source or did not encounter another pellet during the trial.

**Figure 3.1** Health status of a population of 30 *Deroceras reticulatum* after 14 hours exposure to pellets of varying levels of metaldehyde concentration. Each slug population was subject to only one treatment pellet (n=30).

**Figure 3.2** Health status of populations of 30 *Deroceras reticulatum* after 72 hours in a recovery environment after exposure to slug pellets of various metaldehyde content. (n = 30).

**Figure 4.1** Slug consumption of treatment pellets after 24 hours exposure in a Petri dish bioassay. There was no significant difference between the average consumption of each treatment pellet type (F(3,80)=0.004, p=0.949) (n=21).

<b>Figure 4.2</b> Slug consumption of treatment pellets after 96 hours exposure in a Petri dish bioassay. There was no significant difference between the average consumption of each pellet type ( $F(1,127)=2.958$ , p=0.088) (n=32).	73
<b>Figure 4.3</b> <i>Deroceras reticulatum</i> consumption of treatment pellets after 24 hours exposure in a Petri dish bioassay (n=32).	74
<b>Figure 4.4</b> <i>Deroceras reticulatum</i> consumption of treatment pellets after 96 hours exposure in a Petri dish bioassay (n=32).	75
<b>Figure 4.5</b> Consumption of pellets by <i>Deroceras reticulatum</i> in a Petri dish bioassay after 24 hours. (n=32).	76
<b>Figure 4.6</b> Consumption of pellets by <i>Deroceras reticulatum in</i> a Petri dish bioassay after 96 hours. $(n=32)$ .	77

**Table 2.1** Number of *Deroceras reticulatum* per treatment that encountered a pellet and fed at least once, the number of slugs that then encountered subsequent pellets and fed more than once, and the number of slugs that were alive at the end of the 14 hour exposure period out of the 30 slugs included in each trial. Slugs considered poisoned showed signs of metaldehyde poisoning such as increased mucus and paralysis on the soil surface.

**Table 3.1** Number of pellet treatments and contents. All laboratory made pellets were made with laboratory grade 99.9% metaldehyde, flour and oil.

**Table 4.1** Consumption scale for amount of pellet consumed in iCRT bioassay trials.Percentage estimates of pellet consumption were converted into a scale in order tostandardise results

50

31

70

**Chapter 1: General Introduction** 

## 1.1 Introduction to the Research

This research provides behavioural insight into how *Deroceras reticulatum*, the grey field slug, interacts and is affected by metaldehyde-based slug pellets. Metaldehyde pellets are the most frequently employed form of slug control across the globe, and without such control slug damage could cause in excess of £100 million to the U.K. agricultural industry annually (Nicholls 2014). This research focuses on the interaction between pest and pellet, and how the locomotive and foraging activity *D. reticulatum* is affected by the presence and consumption of metaldehyde. This research also provides information into the initial testing of a novel pellet formulation, using inorganic Controlled Release Technology for metaldehyde, which has the potential to reduce the damaging environmental risks that application of metaldehyde pellets present, and increase slug control efficiency in the field.

## 1.2 The Grey Field Slug

*Deroceras reticulatum*, or the grey field slug, is the most economically important gastropod pest of agriculture and horticulture in the UK and many temperate regions of the world (Shirley et al. 2001). A particular threat to oilseed rape (OSR) and winter wheat, the slug presents a threat to the success of a plant at each life stage. Slugs cause damage under the soil surface by seed hollowing and grazing of germinated seeds, and above the soil surface through root and shoot shredding and feeding. It is estimated that without control in the U.K. damage to crops from slugs could cost the agricultural industry in excess of £43.5 million annually for OSR and winter wheat alone, adding to a total in excess of £100 million for the entire agricultural sector (AHDB 2015).

The grey field slug (Class: Gastropoda, Family: Agriolimacidae) is a small (3-5cm in length) slug that varies from a milky white to grey/ brown in colour, which is often dappled. The body of the grey field slug follows a similar plan of other terrestrial gastropod molluscs. The body is divided into four main sections: The head which features the mouthparts sensory tentacles and redundant eyes, the foot with the pedal gland at the front of the animal, the mantle which is a fold of skin of the respiratory cavity on the dorsal part of the slug and the visceral mass underneath the mantle that contains the inner organs (Baker 2001)

The skin of the *D. reticulatum* is extremely thin and is protected with a layer of mucus which cover the whole slug body. Slug mucus has extremely high water content of between 80-99% water (Davis and Hawkins 1988) and is produced by the pedal gland on the front of the foot of the slug which further regulates body water content but more importantly facilitates movement and locomotion (South 1992). In addition to the pedal gland, there are glands that cover the body of the slug that secrete mucus which also regulate the slugs water content. *D. reticulatum* has a body water content of 80% and can rehydrate from dermal contact with moisture such as damp soil.

The mouthparts of terrestrial molluscs are unique compared to their aquatic relatives. The mouth consists of a circular opening called the radula which contains layers of chitinous teeth arranged around the tongue of the buccal cavity (Wright and Huddart 1999). Slugs rasp on their food source as opposed to taking bites, grazing and shredding their food. Once consumed, food enters the oesophagus and a crop which contains digestive enzymes (Bowen 1970). Partially digested food then passes into the stomach followed by the intestines and is eventually expelled via the anus.

Due to their high body water content, *D. reticulatum* is frequently associated in areas of high soil moisture. The ability to remain hydrated impacts on all parts the slug's life from locomotion, to feeding to reproduction, and therefore slugs are more commonly active at night-time when the ambient temperature is lower, and moisture (atmospheric and soil) is higher. This endogenous rhythmical activity is seen across most terrestrial molluscs and shows seasonality following changes in light levels (Morton 1979, Sokolove et al. 1977). Dependency on moisture is also likely to influence movement of populations and individuals of slugs. Slug activity is heavily dependent on meteorological conditions including precipitation and temperature. Studies have shown that in lower temperatures (less than 10°C *D. reticulatum* travel significantly less distance than compared to temperatures of around 15°C (Godan 1983).

Damage to crops by *D. reticulatum* coincides with maximal hatching of young and the population increase because of this. Breeding of *D. reticulatum* can occur throughout the year, however peaks in autumn and spring (Howlett et al. 2005, Hunter 2006) Forecasting of slug

damage is possible and used in order to judge when to apply molluscicide pellets. Slug forecasting considers weather conditions soil type, stage of plant growth, season of sowing and proximity to areas of refuge such as meadows (Glen et al. 1993).

# **1.3 Control of slugs**

The protection of crops from pest predation is imperative in order to feed a human population that is expected to reach over 9 billion people by 2050 (Godfray et al. 2010). Control of pest populations of slugs can be divided into three categories: physical, biological and chemical control. A combination of methods is advised in order to obtain optimal slug control as part of an integrated pest management scheme (Glen 2000 and Leake 2003), which aims to reduce the amount of synthetic pesticide applied to arable land.

Physical (mechanical) control or prevention of slug damage includes ploughing, removal of weeds from field margins and rolling after seed drilling in order to create a firm, compacted seed bed in order to reduce slug access (Get Pelletwise 2020). These mechanical practices are not preventative in terms of slug control but can significantly reduce slug damage later in the season (Douglas and Tooker 2012).

Biological control of slugs encompasses both naturally occurring predators and artificially supplemented parasites on the field. The application of nematodes, notably *Phasmarhabditis hermaphrodita*, has become increasingly popular in the control of slugs over the past 10-20 years. A facultative parasite, *P. hermaphrodita*, can be applied to soil during watering and infect slugs upon contact, usually in an area below the mantle and cause swelling of the mantle, leading to death 7-21 days after infection (Rae et al. 2008). There are several issues with the use of this biological agent which make large scale agricultural use impractical. Firstly, the cost of applications of nematodes is significantly higher compared to metaldehyde pellets (£14 for Nemaslug® to treat 0.004 ha vs £10- £15 for metaldehyde to treat 1 ha). Nematodes also have a short range, and therefore application must be precise in order to avoid further increased costs, as well as being sensitive to temperature and moisture. For these reasons' nematodes remain a viable option for slug control for gardeners and allotment owners, but application in an agricultural setting is not practical.

Slugs have several natural predators, birds, hedgehogs and ground beetles (Mair and Port 2002) often share similar habitats to where pest populations of slugs are found, though control by natural predators is likely to be less successful in controlling pest slug populations compared to synthetic pesticides (Ayre 1995).

#### **1.4 Synthetic Pesticides**

Whilst the employment of pesticides has long been documented as early as 2500 BC (Flint and van den Bosch 1981), synthetic pesticides have only gained momentum in their development and usage in the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century (Haines 2000), predominantly due to advances in technologies surrounding synthetic chemistry.

Probably the most infamous synthetic pesticide to come of the 20<sup>th</sup> century was the insecticide DDT, or dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane. Though initially described as a "wonder chemical" (North America Pesticide Action Network 2020) and used as an insecticide worldwide having proven to be effective in controlling both insect borne diseases such as malaria and agricultural pest infestations, it was not until the latter half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century that the negative effects of DDT on human health and the environment were drawn to the attention of both scientists and the general public. Though the effects of DDT on the environment had been noted previously by scientists, it was not until the documentation of these effects in Rachel Carson's Silent Spring (Carson 1962) that the devastating impact of such a chemical on the environment and human health was made visible to the world. The detrimental effects on human health and undeniable evidence of the devastation caused by the chemical to wildlife created a huge backlash from the public on chemical companies and manufactures of DDT and scientists and governing bodies that promoted its usage. Silent Spring is regarded as one of the "founding texts of environmentalism" for this reason (Dunlap 2008) and marks a significant shift of the attitudes of not only the general public towards pesticides, but of also the way in which pesticides are created, applied and monitored in the environment. Risks and issues from pesticides produced in the latter half of the 20th century echo Carson's warning of the impact such chemicals in the environment, and to this day pesticides still present a range of serious environmental and public health issues such as non-target poisonings, pesticide resistance, bioaccumulation in both animals and vegetation, leaching and water pollution and

human health impacts such as respiratory issues (Aktar et al. 2009), the reduction of which are now the focus of development for an effective but safe pesticide.

Chemical pesticides vary greatly in their formulation and application, which is typically dependent on the target species. Application of pesticides can range from wettable powders, water dispersible granules, seed treatments, spray mists and dusts and pellet granules and rates of application not only depended on the formulation type, but a range of biotic and abiotic factors that can make pesticide application requirements highly variable from one season to the next (Seaman 1990). The primary focus in developing a new pesticide formulation is the biological effect and selectivity for the desired target species (Sparks 2013). The demand for species-specific chemical pesticides has increased greatly as a result of the shift in agricultural practices to an integrated pest management (IPM) approach, which aims to minimise the amount of chemical pesticide applied by greater management and inclusion of physical, biological and cultural (as well as chemical) control into farming practices (Stenberg 2017). Apart from being species specific, the effect of the pesticide once in the environment must be considered. Pesticides should have minimal impact on the environment, be safe to the user and be applied at the lowest possible dosage (Knowles 2008) as well as ideally being biodegradable, non-persistent and inexpensive to both the manufacturer and user.

Control of slugs with synthetic pesticides is by far the most common practice in agriculture. Cheap, easy to apply and requiring no maintenance, pellets can be applied both before and during the growing season. Pellets are often incorporated into the seed bed during drilling as a first line of defence, but additional pellets are broadcast over the surface of the soil, particularly during the early stages of plant growth. Two molluscicides dominate the market: metaldehyde and ferric phosphate (iron III phosphate). Metaldehyde is by far the most commonly used molluscicide globally, employed by 23 of the 27 EU member states (EU Pesticides Database 2021), the USA and Australia. The use of ferric phosphate is becoming increasingly common. Sold as an organic pesticide because the active ingredient is not synthetic, and at a slightly greater cost compared to metaldehyde (£10-15/ha for metaldehyde and between £4-5 more expensive per hectare for ferric phosphate), (DEFRA 2010) and, the use of ferric phosphate is likely to be increasing due to a pressure to move away from metaldehyde and as public demand increases for organic produce.

6

Metaldehyde is the cyclic tetramer of acetaldehyde and hydrolyses quickly upon slug consumption to acetaldehyde which leads to increased mucus production from the slug and rapid dehydration (Castle et al. 2017). The molluscicide is incorporated into a grain-based pellet which often contains a dye in order to discourage consumption by non-target organisms, and anti-fungal agents. Metaldehyde slug pellets are sold commercially at concentrations between 1-5%, however pellets up to 10% concentration have been documented (Gupta 2007). These pellets irritate slug mucus glands, causing excessive mucus secretion. Slug mucus is extremely high in water content (Davis and Hawkins 1998), and so excessive mucus production can rapidly dehydrate a slug. At higher consumption levels, metaldehyde is a nerve poison, and can paralyse the muscle mass of an animal if consumed in high enough quantities. Dehydration due to excessive mucus loss immobilises the slug shortly after consumption of metaldehyde on the soil surface, eventually leading to complete desiccation and death. After poisoning, slugs typically remain on the soil surface immobilised, due to the lack of ability to produce mucus to move, and it is at this point where either desiccation or predation from naturally occurring predators is likely to occur. Dehydration is further increased by sunlight and an increased ambient temperature after dawn, which may lead to quicker death. Predation by ground beetles, birds and hedgehogs is likely to be at an increased rate when slugs are paralysed on the soil surface (Langan 2004), which will contribute to control by metaldehyde pellets.

#### 1.5 Problems with Metaldehyde

Over the past 20 years several problems with the use of metaldehyde on agricultural land have arisen. The effectiveness of control by metaldehyde pellets has been questioned. Though farmers are routinely applying pellets throughout the season, there is not a corresponding decrease in the amount of crop damage due to slugs after harvest. There is also concern with the poisoning of non-target species with metaldehyde pellets (Grubisic et al. 2018), particularly hedgehogs, though poisonings are usually anecdotal, this concern is enough to generate a negative perception of the use of such pellets among the general public, which in turn generates pressure onto growers to switch to alternative control means. There are also cases of non-target poisonings in pets, particularly dogs, however this is likely to be due to improper use or storage of pellets in households (LD50 for a 4.5kg dog is 28g of 3%

7

metaldehyde pellets, which is less than half the maximum recommended weight of application for a garden/ allotment of  $10m^2$ ).

The most impactful issue surrounding the use of metaldehyde pellets is the pollution risk it presents to drinking water systems. Metaldehyde is highly mobile in water and is readily leached out of pellets on damp soil surfaces into surface water runoff, where it contaminates watercourses such as rivers and streams that run nearby the farmland. Spikes of metaldehyde levels in rivers and reservoirs have been documented over the past 10 years surpassing the EU drinking water directive of 0.1  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> for any pesticide (Castle et al. 2017). Currently, metaldehyde is extremely difficult and expensive to remove from contaminated water systems because the chemical does not respond to traditional water remediation methods due to its high polarity (World Health Organisation 1996). Metaldehyde removal methods are a major focus of research in the water industry (Doria et al. 2013, Rolph et al. 2018) in combination with the "Get Pelletwise" scheme by the Metaldehyde Stewardship Group (2020) aimed to provide best practice information for the responsible use of metaldehyde, particularly in sensitive water catchment areas.

## **1.6 Slugs and Pellets: Interactions**

Pellets are currently the most feasible method of slug control, due to the biology and behaviour of slugs in the field. Slug activity is highly dependent on temperature and humidity, and therefore it is possible to predict the likelihood of increased slug activity but locating precisely where patches of slugs are in the field is more challenging (Archard et al. 2005, Mueller -Warrant et al. 2014, Petrovskaya et al.2018, Petrovskaya et al. 2020). Predicting or locating the whereabouts of a group of slugs in the field would allow for precise, targeted and much more efficient slug control (Choi et al. 2004, Willis et al. 2006, Forbes 2020). The pestpellet interaction is a key component for successful slug control, and control relies predominantly on the consumption of a lethal dose of molluscicide from the pellet. It has been speculated that inefficiencies in control are due to consumption of metaldehyde based pellets that may cause paralysis and immobilisation of the radula, rendering the slug unable to feed for long on a pellet (Bowen and Antoine 1995), however it is more likely that early detection of metaldehyde by the slug, before or during feeding is likely to be a key factor in the

unsuccessful delivery of a lethal dose. Evidence suggests that slugs forage at random (Bailey 1989, Howling 1991), and so broadcast spreading of pellets over the soil surface is likely to remain the optimal method of pellet application however it is important to consider the impact that the presences of molluscicide pellets has on the slugs feeding and foraging behaviour before, during and after an encounter with a pellet.

# **1.7 Gastropod Locomotion**

Locomotion is an energetically costly but necessary behaviour for the majority of animals. In terrestrial gastropods, the energetic cost of locomotion is increased greatly by the requirement to produce mucus in order to crawl over surfaces. Feeding, mating, predator avoidance and hydration are likely to be among the main factors controlling locomotion in terrestrial slugs and snails. The study of the locomotive behaviour of pest species of slugs and snails is vital for understanding pest population dynamics and allowing decisions to be made on appropriate and effective control of pest populations as well as providing accurate predictions of pest invasions or outbreaks. The application of molluscicidal pellets is the most utilised form of pest control for slugs and snails in agriculture and better understanding of the locomotive behaviour of gastropods once subject to these molluscicides may provide information on how to improve slug and snail control in the field.

The study of animal movement and its associated behaviours informs many areas of ecological research. Aside from satiating scientific curiosity, behavioural research can contribute towards understanding the dynamics of animal populations through space and time, which in turn allows scientists and policy makers to make informed decisions on the conservation or control of animal populations. The exact definition of "behaviour" is one that is often argued and contested amongst ethologists, and descriptions range from more simplistic terms stating that behaviour is merely any recognisable movement of an individual animal, to definitions acknowledging that behaviour is often elicited by a combination of both internal and external cues that trigger a response from one or several organisms (Colgan 1990, Levitis et al. 2009, Tinbergen 1963). Exactly what causes an animal or group of organisms to behave in a certain manner involves a complex and in depth understanding of the individual's environment, ecology, evolution and neurology. These categories of factors controlling

behaviour are scarcely studied at once, however studies of individual behavioural stimuli can be combined and modelled in order to allow predictions of behaviour to be made (Figure 1.1).



**Figure 1.1** Disciplines contributing to the study of animal behaviour. Venn diagram by Derby and Sorensen (2008).

It should be noted that for the purpose of this research, the term "behaviour" will be used with regard of any internal or external recognisable movement made by an animal or group of animals, and behaviours are assumed to be generated from internal and/ or external stimuli. Internal stimuli may include hormonal or chemical changes within an organism, whereas external stimuli refer to the physics and chemistry of the animal's environment, as well as interactions with other organisms. Chemical or physical changes to an environment can have a significant impact on animal behaviour. Stimuli can generate behavioural responses by detection from a range of sensory receptors on an animal such as mechanoreceptors, chemoreceptors, electromagnetic receptors, thermoreceptors and nociceptors. An organism may only possess one or a few kinds of receptor, and response to stimuli may depend on the age or maturation of an organism, meaning sensitivity to stimuli varies both within and

between species. Environmental stimuli may include long and short-term changes to an organism's surroundings such as daylight and temperature changes, varying seasons, presence of other organisms and human interference such as the application of pesticides or the removal or change of habitat. More long-term changes to environment may affect behaviour at an animal population or eventually a species level, causing an adaptive evolutionary change, a form of behavioural change that allows a population of organisms to better survive in their environment (Magurran et al. 1993).

Over time the study of the behaviour of insects and other invertebrates has gained increasing momentum, largely due to the pest status of many species of invertebrates and therefore the need to understand specifically what makes these animals successful pests in order to implement effective control methods (Nair 1985). The study of invertebrate behaviour is a vast area of research and includes quantification of actions such as movement, feeding, mating and species interactions. Information on the aforementioned behaviours can allow scientists to better understand the population dynamics of pest insects, enabling appropriate control methods to be implemented when necessary, as well as aiding in the prediction of pest outbreaks which can significantly reduce damage to crops, livestock or forestry. Therefore, better understanding of pest insect behaviour contributes directly to a more accurate integrated pest management approach to control.

Field based behavioural studies of terrestrial pest invertebrates including insects and gastropods can be time consuming and laborious, often with relatively low success due to the impracticalities involved with studying small invertebrates in a large field setting (Dent 2000). Many invertebrate pests such as species of coleopteran, lepidoptera and gastropod molluscs are more active at night (Ma and Ma et al. 2012), which can also present further difficulties for observing behaviour in a field setting. It is therefore common for behavioural assays to take place in a laboratory-based setting by which various conditions such as light, temperature, humidity and soil type can be altered to best reflect the reality of a field-based setting, but also controlled so that results acquired from research are representative and reliable. It is often the case that research questions are more easily obtained in one setting than another, for example it is easier to measure the response to stimuli in a highly controlled laboratory setting as opposed to in the field. Though it is not possible to recreate an entirely realistic field-based setting in a laboratory, and it is inevitable that certain factors that may

influence behaviour that cannot be controlled such as weather and the presence of predators (Lewis and Gower 1980), laboratory studies are at least an appropriate starting point for a great deal of invertebrate behavioural research.

One of the main interests to many invertebrate behavioural scientists is the locomotive behaviour of the animal. The movement of animals can be studied at both an individual or population scale level and, in the case of pest invertebrate studies, can provide essential data on pest invasions. Locomotion is an energetically costly behaviour for most animals (Tucker 1970) and can be used to infer more complex behaviours such as foraging or mating. In the case of gastropod molluscs, the mechanism of locomotion has been studied in great detail. Identifying the factors controlling the behavioural response of gastropod mollusc movement is a vast area of research with many factors yet to be explored. Many species of terrestrial slugs and snails are significant pests in agriculture across the world. A number of these species are introduced (Cameron 2016) and can cause significant losses to agricultural and horticultural yield if not appropriately controlled. Understanding the locomotive behaviour of pest slugs and snails is therefore fundamental in developing successful pest population control techniques. Due to the limbless and adhesive nature of locomotion by slugs and snails, locomotion is not only of interest to those from a pest control perspective, but to a broad range of researchers.

# 1.8 The Biology of Slug and Snail Movement

Limbless crawling of animals is one of the most primitive forms of directional movement and is observed in a range of exothermic species including snakes, earthworms and molluscs (Tanaka et al. 2012). The locomotive mechanism of terrestrial gastropods has long been of interest to both biologists and biophysicists, attention from the latter due largely to the potential for advances in robotics gained from insight into gastropod adhesive locomotion (Lai et al. 2010). Biologically, the mechanism of adhesive movement by use of a single, large muscular foot has been studied extensively in both aquatic and terrestrial gastropods. In aquatic gastropods, gliding movement is facilitated by waves produced by ciliated epithelial cells along the foot (Pavlova 2010). In contrast, terrestrial gastropods are propelled forward by the contraction and relaxation of muscles that run centrally down the ventral surface of the foot (Figure 1.2) and a thin layer of mucus acts as the adhesive which affixes the foot to the

substrate the animal is moving on (Pavlova 2019). Known as pedal waves, these muscular contractions create thrust and coupled with a mucus layer allow the animal to move forwards with adhesive motion (Lai et al. 2010).



**Figure 1.2** Pedal waves and interwaves on the ventral surface of the foot of the Banana slug (*Ariolimax californicus*) moving along a glass surface. Taken from Lai et al. 2010.

Slugs and snails are heavily reliant on water availability and are very susceptible to dehydration. In order to reduce the risk of desiccation, the animals are coated in a layer of viscous, clear mucus that aids the retention of water. Mucus is secreted from glands on the epidermis of the skin and is made up of a mixture of large molecules including glycoproteins, polysaccharides, lectins and hemocyanin (Deyrup- Oslen and Martin 1982). Mucus is also produced from the pedal gland at the front of the foot in gastropods that coats the whole foot in a thin layer of mucus, which allows the animal to then glide across surfaces (Godan 1983). The energetic cost of mucus production is extremely high and accounts for approximately one third of a slug's energy budget, meaning that crawling by slugs is one of the most energetically costly forms of locomotion known in the animal kingdom (Lauga 2006).

# **1.9 Factors Controlling Slug Locomotion**

# 1.9.1 Water availability

It is estimated that gastropod mucus comprises of between 80-99% water (Davies and Hawkins 1998) and therefore, in order to maintain levels of mucus required to keep the animal hydrated and to facilitate locomotion, slugs and snails are heavily reliant on water or moisture availability in order to avoid desiccation and death. The majority of terrestrial slug and snail species are therefore more active at night and display a nocturnal circadian rhythm in order to avoid increased risk of dehydration during warmer daytime hours. Dehydrated

slugs will gravitate to areas with where water is available, such as in damp soil (Prior 1984) in order to reabsorb water through the epidermis through contact rehydration. Some species of slugs such as *Limax maximus* have been shown to demonstrate a huddling behaviour whereby slugs will aggregate together in dry conditions in order to reduce overall body moisture loss (Prior et al. 1983). It is likely that aggregating reduces the overall surface area of a slug population and therefore reduces water loss (South 1965), it is also likely that aggregating provides a form of predator defence (Taylor 1977) and potentially thermoregulatory benefits (Richter 1976)

# 1.9.2 Foraging

Slugs and snails are generalist herbivores, and largely tend to forage at random and graze on food sources they encounter (Bailey 1989). The grey field slug, Deroceras reticulatum, has been shown to increase locomotive activity when starved (Arias and Crowell 1963, Airey 1987), whilst Milax budapestensis reduced its locomotive activity when subject to the same conditions as D. reticulatum. The superficial behavioural response to hunger appears vary between slug species (Hamilton and Wellington 1981), and it is speculated that this could be due to a range of factors including differences in the energetic cost of locomotion, the natural habitat of the slug as well as behavioural responses to stress caused to the animals due to being subject to laboratory conditions. Though it was expected that locomotive behaviour when foraging is be random and non-directional, the grey field slug, D. reticulatum has demonstrated preferential grazing towards acyanogenic morphs of white clover and will select more desirable feeding choices (Burgess and Ennos 1987), and therefore there may be some degree of selectivity when foraging. The presence of predators may alter the foraging behaviour of slugs, as it has been shown that *Deroceras reticulatum* may be able to detect chemical cues from the predatory ground beetle Carabus nemoralis (Bursztyka et al. 2013 and 2016) and avoid areas the beetle has been detected. Predator avoidance behaviour may trigger locomotion of a slug or snail, which may in turn alter the foraging success of the gastropod.

# 1.9.3 Trail following

In certain gastropod species, chemoreception and the olfactory system heavily influence the movement and behaviour of the animal (Croll 1983). Olfactory systems are more redundant in some gastropod species than others, and are more studied in aquatic molluscs, however species of the large terrestrial slug, *Limax*, have long been used as biological models for the olfactory system processing and learning (Matsuo et al. 2018). Behavioural responses to plant volatiles have been observed from *Deroceras reticulatum*, which would follow aqueous trails containing volatiles from food sources such as lettuce, although it is difficult to distinguish whether the animal was responding to olfactory or gustatory cues (Pickett and Stephenson 1980). Mucus trail following is a behaviour observed in many gastropod species (Terence et al. 2013) and appears to have several functions. Trail following may aid in homing behaviour of gastropods, whereby a population or individual returns to a specific resting area after feeding (Cook 1992, Cook 1979). Following a pathway may be energetically beneficial in homing species of gastropod with regards to locomotive output due to the certain directional nature of following mucus trails.

Trail following is also heavily relied upon for slug and snail mating, including locating and selecting correct species of mate. Snails show preference to trails of their own species, particularly when of sexual maturity (Chase et al. 1978). Selectivity for mucus trails has also been demonstrated by the slug *Deroceras reticulatum* (Wareing 1986), *Limax grossui* Lupu (Cook 1977) and by comparison during laboratory experiments *L. grossui* would only follow trails of the same species, and not trails of *Milax budapestiensis* or *Deroceras reticulatum*.

## 1.10 Chemical Control of Pest Gastropods and locomotion

The application of chemical molluscicide pellets is the most heavily utilised form of pest slug control in agriculture. Cheap and relatively simple to apply, molluscicide pellets are either scattered on the soil surface or incorporated into the seed bed when seeds are drilled into the ground. In principle, slugs encounter these pellets when foraging and graze on them upon encounter, allowing a fatal dose of molluscicide to be consumed to the animal however, slugs and snails often recover from the toxic effects of these molluscicides most likely due to consuming a non-lethal dosage from the pellet grazed. There is no published evidence to suggest that slugs can detect olfactory cues from molluscicide pellets and therefore there is a

need to study the behaviour of slug upon encountering the pellet. In locomotive terms, the molluscicide metaldehyde inhibits movement of the slug by stimulating excess mucus production causing them to release an excess of mucus, dehydrating the animal and by paralysis of the muscle mass (Wedgewood and Bailey 1988). Both track length and locomotive activity is shortened after contact with novel molluscicides (Schuder et al. 2004) and this could impact upon the success of feeding behaviour of the animal, reducing predation of crop.

Terrestrial gastropod locomotion is an energetically costly and complicated form of directional movement controlled by waves of pedal contractions controlled by numerous neuronal patterns (Chase 2002). It is impossible to directly infer the motivations for movement; however, studies provide strong evidence that water regulation, food requirements, breeding behaviour and predator avoidance are all likely to elicit locomotion in gastropods. Due to its costly nature, the reward gained by movement must outweigh the energetic output of the animal upon sensing a chemical or physical change in the environment. Slugs can recover from the toxic effects of molluscicide pellets; however, it is not fully understood what impact a non-lethal dosage of molluscicide may have on the locomotor and feeding behaviours of pest gastropods. Understanding the impact molluscicide pellets have on the locomotive behaviour of slugs will allow inferences to be made regarding the likely success of a pest population consuming a significant proportion of crop and therefore also help aid in improved pellet design.

#### **1.11** Thesis Rationale

The application of metaldehyde baits is a contentious topic, due to the risk presented to both drinking water systems and wildlife. Nevertheless, the application of synthetic pellet-based pesticides is likely to remain the control method for farmers due to slug population pest dynamics, cost and ease of application. Over 170 tonnes of metaldehyde and ferric phosphate was applied to UK arable crops in 2018 (Garthwaite et al. 2019) and it is therefore essential that research focuses on enhancing the efficiency as well as the environmental stability of these pellets in order to create effective pellets that minimise risk to the wider environment. Considering pellets work by consumption by the slug, studying the behaviour of the slug before, during and after interactions with a pellet may provide insight into the pest-pellet interaction and how improvements to the pellet could be made to increase consumption of the molluscicide by the slug.

The research aims to provide behavioural insight into the pest-pellet interaction between *Deroceras reticulatum* and molluscicide bait pellets. The thesis is divided into three main sections:

 The foraging and feeding behaviour of *Deroceras reticulatum* in the presence of molluscicides.

This chapter describes the impact different concentrations of metaldehyde pellets have on the foraging and feeding behaviour of *D. reticulatum*. The impact on foraging before encountering a pellet is assessed by assessing the difference in time taken for a slug to locate pellets of various concentrations, which challenges the hypothesis that metaldehyde pellets may attract or repel slugs. Time spent feeding on a pellet is monitored, and this is considered in terms of delivery of a lethal dose and the effects that spending more time at a pellet are likely to have on overall slug health. Foraging time between pellets is measured by way of determining whether metaldehyde consumption has an effect on foraging behaviour. Pellet acceptance and acceptance of subsequent pellets is analysed as it is predicted that reacceptance of pellets in the field may be important in order to ensure successful control of slugs if a lethal amount of pellet is not consumed on the first pellet encounter.

#### 2) The fate of *Deroceras reticulatum* following molluscicide poisoning.

This section explores the effect of metaldehyde on the health of the slug, mimicking pellet exposure overnight in the field and moving poisoned slugs to an area of ideal conditions where the slug may rehydrate. This chapter explores the effect of changing metaldehyde concentration on the likelihood and severity of paralysis, recovery or death.

 The potential uses for inorganic Controlled Release Technology (iCRT) for metaldehyde based molluscicides

Though metaldehyde presents risks to the environment, it is nevertheless one of the few successful molluscicides available. Advances in technology mean that manufactures are now able to produce pesticides and herbicides that are more stable in their intended environment, are less polluting and are targeted in their delivery. Microencapsulation of metaldehyde with controlled release technology is explored in this chapter, with acceptability and mortality being the key areas of focus. Controlling the release of metaldehyde could reduce the water pollution and wildlife risk and ensure more effective slug control by concealing metaldehyde in grain-based pellets where it is only released under certain conditions once inside the slug. The application of ferric phosphate base molluscicides has increased gradually in recent years (Garthwaite et al. 2019) and is likely to continue increasing with the forthcoming removal of metaldehyde as an approved pesticide for UK outdoor use. The use of controlled release technology for ferric phosphate molluscicides may reduce the risk of the pellets to non-target organisms, as well as the potential risk to the environment of increased application of chelating agents, which are often included in ferric phosphate based molluscicides (Edwards et al. 2009).

This research explores both the pest-pellet interaction and the fate of slugs following consumption of molluscicide. It challenges the recommendation of 3% metaldehyde industry standard pellets and provides insight into the sensitivities that *Deroceras reticulatum* has to metaldehyde. By exploring novel inorganic controlled release metaldehyde pellets, this research offers a potential future avenue of research into new formulations of slug pellets that may be more environmentally friendly, while providing higher levels of slug control.

Chapter 2: The foraging and feeding behaviour *of Deroceras reticulatum* in the presence of molluscicides

## 2.1 Abstract

The global drive to reduce the amount of pesticides applied to agricultural land to improve biodiversity and promote sustainable agricultural practices includes the use of metaldehyde, the primary molluscicide for control of the *D. reticulatum* across the world. The effect of metaldehyde on the foraging and feeding behaviour of *Deroceras reticulatum* was tested in relation to changing the concentration of the molluscicide in bait pellets. Metaldehyde of a range of concentrations (1, 3 and 5%) and a commercial pellet was presented to small groups of *D. reticulatum* and the foraging behaviour before and between pellet encounters was recorded, as well as the time spent feeding on a pellet. *D. reticulatum* fed for a significantly longer time on 1% metaldehyde compared to higher concentrations and was also more than twice as likely to accept a second pellet compared to other tested pellets. The concentration of metaldehyde did not have an effect on the foraging behaviour of *D. reticulatum*, however time spent between the first and subsequent pellet encounters was low for all concentrations, indicating metaldehyde reduced foraging activity compared to before the first pellet encounter.

#### **2.2 Introduction**

# 2.2.1 Deroceras reticulatum and U.K Agriculture

The grey field slug, *Deroceras reticulatum*, is considered one of the most economically damaging crop pests of U.K. agriculture and is of particular threat to oilseed rape and winter wheat. In 2016, over 25% of wheat and 61% of oilseed rape grown in the U.K. was treated with a form of molluscicide or repellent, equating to 131,588 tonnes of active substance utilised for the growth of oilseed rape and wheat alone (Garthwaite et al. 2019). Molluscicide usage for the aforementioned crops therefore contributed 82% of the total weight of molluscicide applied to all crops in the U.K. It is estimated that without control of terrestrial gastropods in oilseed rape and wheat crops, losses of £43.5 million of yield could been seen annually (Nicholls 2014).

Like many terrestrial gastropods, Deroceras reticulatum is a generalist herbivore, grazing on a range of living and dead plant matter. Damage to crops may occur before germination and under the soil by seed hollowing, and later by reducing plant biomass in developed seedlings and plants from leaf and shoot grazing, which can have significant impacts on crop yield (Rodriguez and Brown 1998). Though considered a generalist, D. reticulatum may demonstrate preferential feeding behaviour when offered a choice between cultivars or morphs of living plant matter, as demonstrated in choice feeding studies of both crop and weed variants (Barlow et al. 2013, Burgess and Ennos 1987, Cook et al. 1996, Hanley et al. 1995). Slug grazing preferences are a large area of research; with studies focused on the physical factors determining plant palatability (plant size/age, leaf toughness and cuticle structure) as well as research orientated towards the chemical components and volatiles in plants making certain species or breeds less susceptible or even resistant to herbivory by slugs (Dizro 1980). Research thus far is inconclusive as to whether particular cultivars of wheat are more or less susceptible to slug herbivory (Cook et al 1996, Spaull and Eldon 1990). In any case, reduced plant susceptibility to slug damage may not equate to significantly higher crop yield because there is likely to be some level of predation on even the more resistant cultivars, and therefore the need for molluscicides is still likely to be required on these crops.

# 2.2.2 Control of Slug Pests

Broadly, control of slugs is divided into three categories: physical (soil management, seedbed preparation), biological (natural predators, nematode application) and chemical (molluscicides). These management techniques are employed at different stages of the growing season as part of an integrated pest management approach to slug control in order to ensure maximum control success. Chemical control by the application of molluscicide pellets is the most common form of terrestrial gastropod control and is available to both commercial and non-commercial growers. Molluscicide pellets are small (usually no larger than 5mm in length), grain pellets containing a small percentage of active ingredient which is the molluscicidal agent. Pellets are intended to be consumed by slugs and snails upon encounter on the soil surface so that a lethal dose of molluscicide can be delivered to the target slug. There are two active ingredients that dominate the molluscicide market: metaldehyde and ferric phosphate (Iron (III) phosphate). Both molluscicides are either broadcast on the soil surface or drilled into the seedbed at the time of seed drilling, though their modes of action are very different. Metaldehyde is the cyclic tetramer of acetaldehyde, and it can be found in commercially sold pellets ranging from 1-5% metaldehyde, and its molluscicidal effect exploits slugs' high dependency on high body water content. Slugs can experience the effects of metaldehyde by either dermal contact or ingestion. Initially, metaldehyde acts as an irritant to the mucus glands, causing the slug to produce an increase of mucus, which in turn leads to dehydration and death on the soil surface. At higher doses, metaldehyde may also cause immobilisation of the muscle mass, which may also lead to desiccation and death on the soil surface and increases the risk of predation by natural predators.

## Ferric phosphate pellets often contain a chelating agent such as EDTA

(Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid), and are recognised as an organic form of chemical control. Ferric phosphate pellets rely solely on consumption by slugs for their molluscicidal effects to take place, and act as a stomach poison to the slug. Ferric phosphate disrupts slugs' calcium metabolism, which eventually leads to changes in the animal's crop and digestive tract (Horgan 2006). Slugs poisoned by ferric phosphate usually retreat under the soil surface where death occurs after a number of days (Horgan et al. 2006). For this reason, it is difficult to quantify the success of slug control when using ferric phosphate due to the lack of evidence of slug death, and therefore ferric phosphate efficiency is usually estimated by observations of slug damage to crops (Speiser and Kistler 2002) when compared to the increase in mucus and slug cadavers on the soil surface when using metaldehyde.

In 2016, metaldehyde was employed by over 86% of farmers that applied some form of molluscicide or repellent to their crops and contrastingly only 13% utilised ferric phosphate (Garthwaite et al. 2019). Between 2014 and 2016, the area treated, and the weight applied of metaldehyde increased by 33% and 21% respectively. This increase in molluscicide use demonstrates a sustained need for effective slug control in U.K. agriculture.

Though widely used, metaldehyde presents serious risks to the environment. When pellets are dampened by rain or soil moisture, metaldehyde leaches into the soil where it contaminates surface water, leading to the contamination of drinking water, causing pesticide limits in drinking water to exceed the EU drinking water directive concentration limit of pesticides of  $0.1 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ . In 2015, there were 102 compliance risks regarding metaldehyde pollution across the U.K. water companies (Anthony et al. 2015). Furthermore, due to its high polarity, metaldehyde is extremely difficult to remove from contaminated water using traditional drinking water treatment processes, and for this reason costs the water industry millions of pounds annually to rectify (Castle et al. 2017). Both metaldehyde and ferric phosphate pellets are a poisoning risk to non-target organisms and are usually stained blue to discourage consumption by non-target animals.

#### 2.2.3 Inefficiencies with Slug Control

In addition to the environmental risks presented when using a molluscicide, there is also little evidence to suggest strong successes of either metaldehyde or ferric phosphate based slug control in U.K. agriculture, with pellets repeatedly applied throughout the growing season in order to control slug populations and slug damage reflected in loss of yield (Storr et al. 2019). The cost of application of molluscicide far outweights the potential loss of yield annually in the U.K, with average U.K. annual applications of molluscicide applied to wheat costing between £5.8-£8.7 million, and between £3.2-£4.9 million for oil seed rape (DEFRA 2010), and potentially losses estimated to be up to £100 million for all of U.K. agriculture annually without slug control. There is therefore an ever increasing need to develop molluscicides that are effective and economically viable in order to reduce levels of crop damage and economic

losses to the agricultural industry. There are numerous reasons why pellets may not be as effective as predicted. The structural integrity of the pellet may deteriorate over time, especially when exposed to water in the form of rainfall or soil moisture, this may cause the pellet to become inedible by the slug. In addition, a dampened pellet may cause metaldehyde to leach into the soil surrounding a pellet, which may be detected by an approaching slug and lead to a repellent effect from the molluscicide. Slugs may recover from the dehydrating effects of metaldehyde poisoning if exposed to sufficient moisture and have not consumed a lethal dose of active ingredient. For these reasons, metaldehyde pellets are less effective during periods of rainfall which is conversely when slugs may be more active (Bourne et al. 1990). On a population level, it is very difficult to predict where slugs are in a field and it could be that refuge areas for slugs are not being targeted (for example, field margins) meaning later populations of slugs are missed for control when applying molluscicide. Methods for predicting slug activity/ density have been known for a long time (Yong et al. 1993), but logistical constraints mean they are not widely used. Recent research has explored the possibility to detect patches of slugs in the field (Forbes et al. 2020), which has the potential to allow for more targeted application of molluscicides in the future.

# 2.2.4 Slug Behaviour and Control

Information regarding the consequences for slugs after encountering a molluscicide pellet is often conveyed in terms of the effectiveness of a molluscicide and is seldom about the effect a molluscicide has on the movement and feeding behaviour of the slug after pellet contact, and how the concentration of active ingredient (metaldehyde or ferric phosphate) alters these behaviours. Due to the nocturnal behaviour of slugs, it is extremely difficult to observe slug populations (and even more so, individual slugs) in the field and therefore laboratory based behavioural assays tend to be preferred initially over field studies. Technological advances in time-lapse video recording and infra-red lighting allow laboratory-based studies to observe behaviour over many hours and at night, so to not disrupt the slug's circadian rhythm (Bailey 1989).

Data regarding the pest - pellet interaction between slugs and molluscicide pellets may offer insight into what extent inefficiencies in slug control by pellets is caused by alterations to
slug locomotion and feeding behaviour when exposed to different molluscicide pellets. This research aims to quantify the foraging and feeding behaviour of *Deroceras reticulatum* before, during and after encounter with either a metaldehyde (1, 3 or 5%) or ferric phosphate (3%) pellet with the aim to provide insight into the effect that both different molluscicide active ingredients and increasing molluscicide concentration has on slug behaviour.

# 2.3 Aims and Objectives

The aim of this research was to provide insight into the movement and foraging behaviour of *Deroceras reticulatum* around varying concentrations of metaldehyde slug pellets and a commercial ferric phosphate pellet. The specific objectives were:

- 1) Investigate the rate and time taken for *D. reticulatum* to encounter slug pellets and whether the formulation of a slug pellet influences the likelihood of encounter. This research is proposed to test the hypothesis that some formulations of slug pellet are attractive to slugs.
- Compare time spent feeding on a pellet with the likelihood of reacceptance of a subsequent slug pellet and whether concentration of the molluscicide has an impact on this. It is hypothesised that after feeding on a pellet of higher AI concentration, the slug will reject subsequent pellets.
- Quantify foraging behaviour of *D. reticulatum* after pellet encounter in terms of mobility and time spent moving. It is hypothesised that slug locomotion will be reduced after contact with a slug pellet, and reduction will be greater with increased metaldehyde concentration.
- 4) Evaluate the impact of time spent feeding on a slug pellet with the health status of the slug after exposure and predict the likelihood of a slug reencountering a pellet and mortality after one night's exposure to molluscicide. It is predicted that the longer a slug feeds on a pellet, the more likely it will succumb to poisoning by metaldehyde and that a longer initial encounter with a pellet will reduce the likelihood of reencountering a subsequent pellet.

#### 2.4 Methods

## 2.4.1 Deroceras reticulatum

Slugs (Deroceras reticulatum) were collected from the edges of amenity grassland in Northumberland, UK, 24 hours before the beginning of each trial. The site selected for slug collection was on the edge of regularly mown grassland where there was an unmanaged verge of scrub and tall ruderal species, dominated by bramble (Rubus fruticosus) and stinging nettle (Urtica dioica). There was no sign of dieback on the plants from herbicide spray and the site was over 500m from the nearest garden and over 1km from any agricultural field and so the risk of pesticide application/ contamination was extremely low. Slugs were collected from the soil surface and on the under canopy of the verge, usually found on clover and dock species. Slugs were selected irrespective of size however only slugs that appeared "healthy" were collected. Healthy slugs were those that reacted to touch, showed no sign of excess mucus loss (such as being surrounded by a white mucus discharge) and had no abnormal deformities. Between collection and inclusion in trials, slugs were stored in a refrigerated environment 3-5°C on wet filter paper in a sealed container with small air holes. Slugs collected were used in trials within 24 hours of collection. Once in the laboratory, slugs were checked again to confirm the correct species, and any slugs wrongly originally identified during collection were taken back to the collection site and released. Slugs were acclimated to the controlled temperature room where trials took place for 24 hours prior to the start of each trial. Slugs acclimatising were placed in a Perspex box with air holes with a 5cm layer clay loam soil and no food. In order to maintain a suitably moist environment for the slugs to remain hydrated, the soil was watered with 750ml of tap water prior to the introduction of slugs which was checked twice during the acclimation period, and re-watered if the soil had started to dry out.

## 2.4.2 Slug Pellets

Pellets used in the trial consisted of both laboratory made and commercially available pellets. In their most basic form, commercial slug pellets are made from flour and an active molluscicidal substance (Bailey 2002, Lonza 2019). Laboratory made pellets were made using 99.9% pure metaldehyde powder mixed with a measured amount of plain flour in order to create pellets of concentrations 1, 3 and 5% metaldehyde. The dry mixture was then combined with olive oil in order to produce a malleable dough. Pellets were then formed from the dough in 1g rolled portions. Pellets were stored in refrigerated environment until use. Commercial slug pellets used were Lonza Axcela® 3% metaldehyde and Certis Sluxx® HP 3% ferric phosphate. A non-toxic control pellet containing the same ingredients as the Axcela® 3% pellet only without metaldehyde was provided by Lonza and was used as the control.

# 2.4.3 Experimental Set Up

Experiments were held in a controlled temperature room  $(15 \pm 1^{\circ}C)$  that was lit with white light from a 400-watt halogen lamp between 0600-1800 and by a 96 blub LED infra-red light between 1800-0600 in order to encourage natural day/night slug activity. Both sets of lights were suspended 1.5m above the arena. Infra-red light does not appear to affect slug behaviour but allows recordings to be made at night (Howling 1990). Trials took place in soil filled arenas (43x56x26cm), filled with 8cm of clay loam soil obtained from agricultural land, that had not been exposed to any pesticide or herbicide. The soil was wetted with 1 litre of water and treatment pellets were then placed onto the soil surface at 9 baiting points (Appendix 1) Commercial pellets (Lonza Axcela® metaldehyde, Certis Sluxx® ferric phosphate) were placed onto wetted soil during the slug acclimation period, in order to soften pellets before the beginning of trial. Laboratory made pellets were placed onto wetted soil less than 30 minutes before the introduction of slugs to the arena, as these pellets did not require softening.

In order to avoid age bias (determined by slug weight) between experiments, the average weight of groups of 6 slugs was taken before introduction into the arena. The average weight of slugs used in the trial was  $0.5g \pm 0.2g$ . Slugs were placed into the soil filled arenas in groups of six, distributed equally around the 9 pellet baiting points, between the pellets and the sides of the arena. Slugs were then left to move freely around the arena over a 14-hour period (18:00-08:00). Slug behaviour was recorded using Brinno BLC200 HDR Laboratory-Cam Time Lapse recording equipment (time lapse frame rate 10 fps) held on gantries 40cm above the arena.

After 14 hours of exposure to pellets, an assessment and recording of the health of each slug was made. Each trial ended after 14 hours of pellet exposure after which time slug behaviour was not recorded. A total of 5 trials per treatment pellet took place in order to record the behaviour of 30 individual slugs. Details of the following behaviours and movements were manually recorded from observations of the time lapse video recording in each trial:

- Time spent foraging from the start of the trial to first pellet encounter.
  - Pellet encounter was confirmed when a slug was observed to make physical contact with a pellet at the anterior end of the slug.
- Time spent feeding on the first pellet encountered.
  - Feeding on pellets was measured when the anterior end of the slug was in physical contact with a pellet and the pellet could be seen to be moving slightly as the slug grazed.
- Time between first and second (and subsequent) pellet encounters and feeding times.
  - $\circ$  Time measured between anterior contact with pellets.
- Acceptance of pellet and acceptance of subsequent pellets.
  - "Subsequent pellet" includes returning to the first pellet to feed.

Slugs that did not encounter a pellet at all throughout the trial were included in data analysis in order to imitate a field like situation as best possible.

# 2.4.4 Statistical Analysis

All data was initially analysed to confirm normality and homoscedasticity. The time taken for *D. reticulatum* to encounter the first pellet in the trial and the total time spent feeding were analysed using Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) in R (R Core Team 2020). Post Hoc analysis using Tukeys HSD (honestly significant difference) was applied where a significant result was indicated by the ANOVA. Analysis of Variance was also used to determine differences in pellet reacceptance and the time taken between pellet encounters.

#### **2.5 Results**

Mortality rates of *D. reticulatum* across all treatments was extremely low (Table 2.1), all but two slugs survived during trials. From the video recording analysis, at the end of each trial, it was observed that all slugs that had encountered a pellet at least once, however a 13% of slugs were not observed to feed on an Axcela® pellet once encountered, and 26% of slugs did not feed on the ferric phosphate treatment once encountered and were observed to turn away almost immediately after the head of the slug touched the pellet. A high proportion (93%) of slugs encountered and fed on at least one pellet during trials for each treatment, while fewer slugs fed on a subsequent pellet. Slugs showing signs of poisoning (increased mucus and/or paralysis on the soil surface) was high for all metaldehyde containing treatments and low the ferric phosphate treatment which was expected due to the contrasting modes of action of the two molluscicides. There were no slugs showing signs of poisoning for the control group.

**Table 2.1** Number of *Deroceras reticulatum* per treatment that encountered a pellet and fed at least once, the number of slugs that then encountered subsequent pellets and fed more than once, and the number of slugs that were alive at the end of the 14 hour exposure period out of the 30 slugs included in each trial. Slugs considered poisoned showed signs of metaldehyde poisoning such as increased mucus and paralysis on the soil surface.

	No. of slugs fed once	No. of slugs fed on subsequent pellets	No. of slugs alive after trial	No. of slugs poisoned after trial
1% metaldehyde	30	14	30	25
3% metaldehyde	30	6	30	28
5% metaldehyde	30	6	30	20
3% Axcela® metaldehyde	26	5	29	27
3% Sluxx ferric phosphate	22	18	29	5
Non toxic pellet	30	21	30	0

## 2.5.1 Initial pellet encounter

From the start of each trial, *Deroceras reticulatum* made contact with non-toxic grain pellets and ferric phosphate pellets significantly more quickly when compared to the metaldehyde containing treatment pellets (F(5, 174)= 14.45, p < 0.001). Similar average encounter times were observed for both commercial and laboratory made 3% pellets (approximately 4.5 hours) Results of Tukeys HSD test showed that ferric phosphate pellets were encountered significantly quicker by slugs when compared to both Axcela® and 1% metaldehyde pellets (p<0.001 for both treatments). On average, the control grain pellets were encountered within 45 minutes from *D. reticulatum*'s introduction to the trial (Figure 2.1), whereas those slugs introduced to trials containing metaldehyde pellets took between three to five hours to make contact with a pellet (averages for 5% and 1% metaldehyde respectively). There was no significant difference in the time taken for a slug to encounter a metaldehyde pellet of any concentration.





whiskers represent minimum and maximum times and white circles indicate outlying data. Black circles indicate the average time taken in minutes to find a pellet and contact a pellet.

#### 2.5.2 Total Pellet Feeding Time

The total time *D. reticulatum* spent feeding on pellets varied significantly between some treatments (F(5,174)=14.45, p<0.001). *D. reticulatum* spent a significantly higher amount of time feeding on 1% metaldehyde pellets compared to 5% metaldehyde, Axcela® and the control pellet (p<0.001). *D. reticulatum* fed on pellets containing 3% metaldehyde for a significantly longer amount of time than slugs subject to 5% metaldehyde pellets (p<0.001). On average, slugs spent approximately 45 minutes in total feeding on 1% metaldehyde pellets throughout the entire 14-hour trials, compared to only 15 minutes of feeding on 5% metaldehyde pellets (Figure 2.2). Slugs spent a significantly higher average time feeding on ferric phosphate pellets compared to 5% and Axcela® pellets (p<0.001). Average pellet feeding time for non toxic control pellet was low (28 minutes), however it should be noted that approximately 1/3 of slugs subject to this treatment did not encounter a pellet at all.



**Figure 2.2** Total time *Deroceras reticulatum* spent feeding on slug pellets throughout a 14 hour trial (n=30 slugs per treatment pellet). Boxes represent upper and lower quartile ranges while whiskers represent minimum and maximum times and white circles indicate outlying data. Black circles indicate the average time *Deroceras reticulatum* spent feeding on all pellets over 14 hours.

# 2.5.3 Subsequent Pellet Encounters

Foraging time was classed as time spent encountering initial and subsequent pellets. Between the first and subsequent pellet encounter for *D. reticulatum*, there was no statistically significant difference between time taken to encounter a pellet of any concentration/ type (F(5,174)=0.707, p=0.619). Average time between pellet encounters was low for all treatments, however for all treatments there were individual slugs whose time foraging varied greatly from the mean (Figure 2.3).



**Figure 2.3** Median time between first and second pellet encounter for Deroceras reticulatum when exposed to pellets over a 14 hour trial (n=30 per treatment pellet). Boxes represent upper and lower quartile ranges while whiskers represent minimum and maximum times and white circles indicate outlying data. Black circles indicate the average time between contact with the first and second pellet.

## 2.5.4 Reacceptance of Pellets

All slugs in trials containing laboratory made metaldehyde pellets or ferric phosphate encountered and fed on a pellet at least once during the trial (Figure 2.4). A small proportion of slugs in the Axcela® 3% treatment did not encounter a pellet at all, and approximately a quarter of slugs in the control group did not encounter a pellet. Approximately 50% of slugs subject to 1% metaldehyde pellets were likely to reaccept a subsequent pellet when encountered when compared to approximately 20% of slugs in 3%, 5% and 3% Lonza Axcela® treatments. Of slugs that encountered a control pellet initially, 60% of slugs accepted a subsequent pellet (Figure 2.5). Reacceptance of ferric phosphate pellets was significantly higher than 3%, 5% metaldehyde and Axcela® pellets (F(, 174)= 14.45, p<0.001). There was no statistically significant difference between the reacceptance rates between any metaldehyde pellets (F(5, 174), p=0.642).



**Figure 2.4** Number of *Deroceras reticulatum* that fed on a pellet when encountered for the first time in a 14 hour trial (n= 30 per treatment). White bars (Yes) indicate that the slug accepted and fed on a pellet, and grey bars (No) indicate that a slug either did not encounter or rejected a pellet once encountered and did not feed.



**Figure 2.5** Number of *Deroceras reticulatum* that encountered a secondary pellet and fed on it having already encountered a pellet in a 14 hour trial (n= 30 per treatment pellet). White bars (Yes) indicate that a slug reaccepted a secondary pellet and grey bars (No) indicate that a slug either encountered a secondary pellet but rejected it as a food source or did not encounter another pellet during the trial.

#### 2.6 Discussion

In this research, slugs were exposed to metaldehyde or ferric phosphate pellets over a 14 hour time period, in order to approximate the time course and conditions of an overnight field exposure. For metaldehyde containing trials, there was no difference in the time it took for an individual slug to locate and feed in the first encountered pellet, which provides evidence that metaldehyde concentration does not influence a slug's ability to locate a pellet, however, compared to the control pellet, the presence of metaldehyde in any concentration, impacts on the time taken for a slug to encounter and feed on a pellet. This result is surprising, and contradicts previous studies suggesting that *D. reticulatum* forages at random (Howling 1990). D. reticulatum located and fed on the first grain or ferric phosphate pellet significantly faster when compared to metaldehyde treatments, which may indicate that D. reticulatum can detect the presence of metaldehyde pellet before encounter. D. reticulatum spent significantly more time feeding on 1% metaldehyde pellets when compared to all other treatment pellets, including the control grain pellet (although this is likely due to the low amount of pellet encountered in the control). At higher metaldehyde concentrations (5%), D. reticulatum fed on pellets for almost quarter of the time compared to the lower concentrations. Time spent foraging between pellet encounters was low for all treatments, it could be that after the initial pellet consumption slug locomotive ability is reduced and so foraging is restricted to a smaller area, and therefore slugs are more likely to reencounter a pellet. 93% of slugs encountered a pellet and fed on it at least once throughout all treatments, however acceptance of subsequent pellets was reduced to 25% of slugs for 3%, 5% and Axcela® pellets, and 50% of slugs for 1% metaldehyde pellets. Slugs exposed to ferric phosphate pellets were significantly more likely to reaccept a pellet when compared to 3%, 5% metaldehyde and Axcela® pellets. This could indicate that differences in the mode of action of ferric phosphate and metaldehyde impact on detection of the active ingredient upon consumption (Horgan 2006) It is less likely that ferric phosphate is detected by the slug when grazing on a pellet, because ferric phosphate works as a poison of the slug digestive system, and so more likely that the molluscicidal effects are experienced after consumption, which would account for the higher rate of reacceptance in this research compared to metaldehyde pellets.

38

Molluscicide pellets rely on contact and feeding by their target organism in order to be effective. While pesticide delivered as sprays or powders can be relatively easily broadcast over infested crops, with a high likelihood that the target pest will be reached, slug pellets must be located and fed upon by slugs for them to be effective. The pest - pellet interaction is therefore a crucial aspect of successful slug control, as it depends on the pellet to be an edible yet toxic food source for the slug while maintaining integrity on the soil surface in changing weather conditions. Successful interaction relies heavily on the slug's behavioural response to the pellet, from locating the pellet to acceptance and feeding on the pellet.

#### 2..6.1 Initial pellet encounter

Slugs located grain pellets containing no metaldehyde and ferric phosphate pellets at a significantly higher rate when compared to metaldehyde treatments. This contradicts evidence that slugs forage at random (Howling 1991). Howling's research did indicate that random foraging was disturbed in the presence of methiocarb but not metaldehyde, and so there is potential for different metaldehyde formulations to impact on random foraging. Slugs may be able to detect metaldehyde pellets in this trial before contact was made with a pellet (Bourne et al. 1988). "Encounter" was defined as when a slug was observed to touch the pellet, and this could be seen clearly from video recordings from each trial. "Encounter" did not include slugs that approached a pellet and changed direction within extremely proximity (>1cm), as it was hypothesised that pellet detection from metaldehyde leached into the surrounding soil would be low. There was no difference in the amount of time taken for a slug to encounter a 1, 3, or 5% metaldehyde pellet, and this could imply that the concentration of the pellet has no effect on potential detection before contact has been made, however could also imply that slugs are extremely sensitive to even extremely low (1%) concentrations of metaldehyde.

Ferric phosphate pellets were encountered more quickly compared to metaldehyde pellets, and it could be that ferric phosphate is less likely to be detected by slugs in the field. If the molluscicidal effects of ferric phosphate are not detected immediately upon encounter by a slug, it could mean that there is a higher chance that a lethal dosage of ferric phosphate will be consumed compared to metaldehyde pellets. Were this the case, it would be advantageous for growers to use ferric phosphate instead of metaldehyde pellets, however it is much more difficult to quantify slug death from ferric phosphate due to its mode of action (Rae et al. 2009).

## 2.6.2 Pellet Feeding and Between Pellet Foraging

D. reticulatum spent significantly longer feeding on 1% metaldehyde pellets when compared to 5% metaldehyde, Axcela® and the grain control pellet. Regarding metaldehyde pellets, the higher rate of acceptance and duration of feeding on a lower concentration of metaldehyde could imply that a successful pest-pellet interaction whereby the slug feeds on a pellet and perishes is likely to happen at a lower metaldehyde concentration. Presuming that metaldehyde poisoning is not instant but still relatively soon after pellet encounter, the length of time spent feeding is more likely to deliver a lethal dose of metaldehyde to the slug in order to arrest the slug for a period of time while the molluscicide takes effect. Spending more time at a pellet also means that the slug is less likely to move to areas of soil that may allow for the slug to rehydrate from the initial effects of metaldehyde poisoning, provided the paralysing effects of the molluscicide ensure the slug cannot move away from the pellet to areas where rehydration may occur. In trials, it was observed that after a pellet feeding event the slug would remain close to the pellet, writhing on the soil surface. This writhing behaviour is observed after metaldehyde poisoning, and it could be that the animal attempts to increase body surface area contact with the soil in order to dermally rehydrate (Cragg and Vincent 1952, Glen et al. 1986, Wedgewood and Bailey 1988). A slug that has spent less time feeding on a pellet (such as those feeding on 5% metaldehyde), may be more likely to be capable to move to damper areas to hydrate, assuming a non-lethal dosage of metaldehyde has been consumed (Wilson et al. 2014). It is likely that in order to deliver a lethal dose of metaldehyde, time spent feeding is relative to the concentration of the pellet i.e., a higher concentration pellet requires a shorter period of feeding in order to deliver a lethal dose. It should be considered however, that a higher concentration of metaldehyde may be more easily detected by a slug, and therefore a short encounter with a high concentration pellet may be enough for the slug to recognise the pellet as an unsuitable food source, whereas metaldehyde in low concentrations may be harder to detect initially (Henderson et al. 1992). D. reticulatum spent a significantly longer amount of time feeding on ferric phosphate pellets when compared to 5% metaldehyde and Axcela® pellets, and it is again likely that higher

concentrations of metaldehyde are more easily detected upon feeding, and that variations in formulation between commercial pellets, and the contrasting mode of action between these pellets could mean that ferric phosphate based pellets are more palatable compared to metaldehyde pellets. Between contacting pellets, slugs there was no difference in the amount of time spent foraging between pellets of any concentration, which means that after a pellet encounter slug foraging behaviour was impacted upon equally, regardless of concentration. Pellet feeding time on grain pellets was unusually low, however approximately a third of slugs did not encounter a pellet at all, and therefore feeding time is likely to have been distorted. It was decided to include slugs that did not feed on pellets in order to imitate field like conditions as best possible.

## 2.6.3 Pellet Reacceptance

If the first encounter and feeding event is not successful in hindering slug activity, it is essential that slugs reaccept subsequent pellets within a short period of time in order for metaldehyde take effect. D. reticulatum was 50% likely to reaccept a subsequent pellet after the initial encounter, whether this be the same pellet or a different pellet after a period of foraging from video recordings of the trials, it was observed over 80% of slugs that reaccepted a subsequent pellet returned to the same pellet that they had initially fed on, likely due to the slug remaining close to the first pellet due to being temporarily incapacitated by metaldehyde. The likelihood of reacceptance at 1% metaldehyde is 25% higher compared to only 20% reacceptance at 3 and 5% metaldehyde. The difference in reacceptance rates could be due to several reasons. After 3 and 5% metaldehyde consumption, it could be that slugs are disabled on the soil surface and unlikely to encounter a subsequent pellet due to the inhibitory effects of metaldehyde on locomotion (Bailey and Wedgewood 1991). It is unlikely that a slug has "learned" to avoid feeding on pellets of 3 and 5%, especially over a short period of time, however it is not implausible to suggest that these higher concentrations of pellets may have leached metaldehyde onto the soil surface in higher measures compared to 1% metaldehyde pellets, and so the slug can detect these pellets and avoid them more so than a lower concertation pellet. Reacceptance of ferric phosphate pellets was significantly higher compared to 3%, 5% metaldehyde and Axcela® pellets and this may be due to low detection levels of a poisonous substance during the consumption of ferric phosphate due to the delay between ingestion and the molluscicidal impact (Horgan et al. 2006).

## 2.7 Conclusion

The concentration of metaldehyde does not appear to impact upon the foraging behaviour of Deroceras reticulatum, however the presence of metaldehyde in any amount (when compared to ferric phosphate and non molluscicidal pellets) affects foraging behaviour whereby D. reticulatum encounters metaldehyde pellets at a slower rate. Observations from this research provide evidence that D. reticulatum is extremely sensitive to metaldehyde and may be able to detect the molluscicide before encountering a pellet. The feeding behaviour of D. reticulatum and the likelihood of accepting subsequent encountered pellets is also adversely affected by metaldehyde. In terms of foraging, it is likely that after feeding on a metaldehyde pellet the slug quickly suffers from the immobilising effects of the molluscicide, and its locomotive activity is reduced greatly due to increase in mucus and dehydration referring the slug at least partially paralysed. Feeding time is shorter with increase in metaldehyde concentration and may be because of faster detection by the slug due to increased metaldehyde presence and therefore early recognition by the animal of an unsuitable food source, or due to quicker slug poisoning due to delivery of a higher dosage. Slugs are more likely to reject a pellet of high metaldehyde concentration after consumption of an initial pellet, and but approximately half of slugs tested will reaccept a pellet of 1% metaldehyde. This research suggests that slugs are more likely to reaccept a pellet of a lower concentration that is too low to lead to morbidity after the first consumption event. Lower metaldehyde concentrations are likely to lose potency in the field more quicky compared to higher concentrated pellets if leaching occurs after rainfall. If low pellet concentrations are used in the field, it could be that reacceptance by slugs is essential in order to increase the chances of morbidity from consumption of slug pellets, as it is less likely a slug will consume a lethal dosage of metaldehyde in one consumption event compared to a higher concentration pellet. Reacceptance is important in order to ensure successful control in the field, particularly with current metaldehyde formulations that can leach metaldehyde when wetted.

42

# Chapter 3: The Fate of *Deroceras reticulatum* Following Metaldehyde Poisoning

## **3.1 Abstract**

The concentration of a pesticide used in agriculture not only has implications for effectiveness of pest control but may also have significant wider environmental consequences. This research explores the acceptability of metaldehyde slug pellets at different concentrations by *Deroceras reticulatum*, and the changes in the health status of the slug when allowed to recover. The highest metaldehyde concentration (5%) yielded the highest slug mortality, however also produced the highest proportion of not poisoned slugs, suggesting the highest level of pellet rejection. 1% metaldehyde pellets were as effective as 3% pellets in paralysing a significant proportion of the population after initial pellet exposure, however more slugs were able to recover from metaldehyde poisoning at 1% metaldehyde compared to 3%. There was no statistically significant difference between the mortality rate of slugs regardless of metaldehyde concentration, suggesting a lower concentration of metaldehyde may be as effective as a higher concentration.

#### **3.2 Introduction**

#### 3.2.1 The Molluscicide Metaldehyde

The primary control of pest slug populations in agriculture is by chemical means with employment of synthetic pesticides. The most commonly used molluscicides are created as a bait to be ingestible, grain-based pellets that contain the active molluscicidal agent (wettable powders and sprays are also manufactured for slug control, albeit less frequently). Metaldehyde is widely used across the world as the active ingredient in slug pellets and is typically present in the pellet at concentrations of less than 5%.

Metaldehyde is primarily a dermal irritant and when ingested by a mollusc which exploits a slug's requirement for high body water content (Castle et al. 2017). It is likely that the irritant effect of the pellet is that which the mollusc will first encounter in the field, whereby, upon physical contact with the pellet, the molluscs' mucus glands become irritated which leads to an increase of mucus production and subsequently dehydration and desiccation (Triebskorn et al. 1988). Upon pellet ingestion by a mollusc, metaldehyde rapidly hydrolyses to acetaldehyde in the gut which elicits further production of excess mucus from the mucus glands and again leads to the mollusc becoming dehydrated and desiccating (Gupta 2007). At high concentrations, it is likely that metaldehyde is a nerve poison in molluscs, which may lead to immobilisation on the soil surface and consequently secondary mortality.

## 3.2.2 Secondary Mortality

Metaldehyde is successful as a molluscicide as it is able to cause slugs to lose large amounts of body water via increasing the amount of mucus produced. It is possible that dehydration from metaldehyde ingestion is not sufficient to kill a slug outright, and therefore it is likely that secondary mortality factors play a large role in slug control with molluscicides.

Once a slug has been poisoned by metaldehyde, it is likely to remain on the surface of the soil surrounded by its own mucus, writhing or completely unable to move due to a lack of body water content rendering it unable to produce further mucus to propel itself in any direction. The mucus produced by terrestrial gastropods is up to 98% water (Godan 1983), and

therefore body water loss due to slug locomotion must be compensated by water uptake from the animals' immediate environment. Gastropod activity has been shown to decrease when body water content drops below 17% of the animal's normal value of 80% water content (Dainton 1954), however lack of movement after metaldehyde poisoning may also be due to paralysis of the muscle mass (Bailey 1989, Godan 1983). It is at this point, once paralysed after pellet contact, that a slug is likely to succumb to predation by birds, hedgehogs or ground beetles. Slugs are generally nocturnal and therefore it is likely that dehydration from encounters with metaldehyde pellets occur during the cooler, damper night-time, and therefore if a slug is still present and paralysed on the soil surface by the morning the increase in temperature may cause the extra dehydration required to kill a slug.

## 3.2.3 Recovery from Metaldehyde

One of the largest issues with control of slugs using metaldehyde based pellets is that although pellets may be successful in dehydrating a slug, they may recover. It is likely that, there may be sufficient soil moisture allowing the slug to rehydrate and recover from metaldehyde poisoning. Similarly, if a rainfall event occurs rehydration may be facilitated then. In previous feeding experiments, it has been suggested that 70% of slugs may recover from consuming metaldehyde (Wedgwood and Bailey 1986) when placed in ideal conditions.

## 3.2.4 The Need to Reduce Metaldehyde Application

Metaldehyde is a large water pollution risk due to its high mobility in soil once leached from slug pellets on agricultural land and was first detected in surface water in the UK in 2007 (Davey et al. 2014). Spikes in drinking water pollution levels cost the UK water industry millions of pounds each year and removal of metaldehyde from drinking water is extremely challenging. Metaldehyde is classed as "semi- persistent" in the aquatic environment and does not respond to conventional drinking water treatment processes (Castle 2017). There are a number of developing treatment methods for the remediation of metaldehyde from drinking water systems (Autin et al. 2013, Doria at al. 2013 and Rolph et al. 2014), however these processes are expensive to both manufacture and implement on a large scale. The pollution risk, coupled with the likelihood that metaldehyde may be less efficient at controlling slug populations due to slug recovery, means that it is imperative that further research into the short-term effects of metaldehyde on slug health immediately after the pest- pellet interaction

have occurred are essential in order to gain insight into the rates of both slug morbidity and paralysis after exposure to metaldehyde. There may be the possibility to advise to manufactures to reduce the concentration of metaldehyde in slug pellets if mortality is seen at lower concentrations as well as higher concentrations of metaldehyde, while remaining aware that secondary mortality as a consequence of soil surface slug paralysis is likely to play a large role in slug control with metaldehyde.

# 4.3 Aims and Objectives

This research aimed to assess the likelihood of recovery by *Deroceras reticulatum* when placed in ideal artificial conditions allowing for rehydration after exposure to metaldehyde pellets, and how the health and recovery status a *D. reticulatum* differed after exposure to various concentrations of metaldehyde.

Specifically, the research objectives were to:

- Assess mortality rate of *Deroceras reticulatum* after 14 hours exposure and after 72 hours to a metaldehyde pellet of either 1, 3 or 5% concentration, a commercial metaldehyde pellet and a non-toxic control pellet. It is hypothesised that higher pellet concentrations will result in higher slug mortality levels.
- 2) Compare the levels of slug paralysis after exposure and during recovery from metaldehyde pellets of various concentrations. It is hypothesised that slugs are more likely to be paralysed (as opposed to dead) after exposure to lower metaldehyde concentrations (1%) when compared to higher concentrations (5%) due to the prediction that slugs will reject higher concentrations of pellets soon after the initial test bite. It is also hypothesised that recovery will be more likely in slugs that have been exposed to lower concentrations of metaldehyde.

#### 3.4 Methodology

#### 3.4.1 Deroceras reticulatum

Grey Field Slugs (*Deroceras reticulatum*) were collected at random the edges of amenity grassland in Northumberland, UK, and selected, stored and acclimated to the laboratory as described in section 3.4.1. Slugs were selected at random, however only slugs regarded as healthy were used in the trial. A healthy slug showed no signs of white/ excess mucus production, responsive movement/ skin rippling to light touch and no obvious deformations. Slug collection took place on the evening before the start of the trial and collected slugs were stored in damp, lidded containers in a refrigerated environment (3-5°C) until transfer into the laboratory. Slugs were starved and acclimatised for 24 hours to a controlled temperature room where all trials took place.

Immediately before transfer into each Petri dish, slugs were weighed in order to ensure an even distribution of sizes across treatments. Average slug weight was  $0.5 \pm 0.2$ g.

#### 3.4.2 Pellet Creation

Trials involved manufactured Lonza Axcela® 3% metaldehyde and Lonza Axcela® non-toxic pellets as well as laboratory made pellets. Laboratory made pellets were made with a base of plain flour mixed with 99.9% pure metaldehyde powder in order to form 1, 3 and 5% concentrations made to 20g in weight. Olive oil was then added to the dry mix by 1ml pipette drops (up to 15 ml dependent on metaldehyde concentration) in order to form a firm but malleable dough. The molluscicidal dough was then cut into 1g segments and rolled in order to form a pellet.

Commercial slug pellets are dry pressed as part of the manufacturing process and tend to be lighter in weight than the 1g laboratory pellets used in the trial, however the laboratory made pellets were of similar size compared to the Axcela® pellets also used in this research and therefore it was considered appropriate. Pellets created for use in trials were made within 24 hours of use in the trial and stored in a sealed container in a refrigerated environment until use.

#### 3.4.3 Pellet Exposure

Deroceras reticulatum were first exposed to a pellet type for 14 hours, and each slug was only exposed once to one type of treatment pellet. Acclimated slugs were divided into groups of 6 of random weight and introduced into an open topped plastic arena (56x 43x23cm) on a layer of damped agricultural clay loam soil approximately 10cm thick. This soil was obtained from Cockle Park farm, Northumberland, and had not been exposed to pesticides or herbicides. Soil in the area was raked in order to produce a fine, even tilth in order to reduce the number of soil clods and shelters for slugs. Around the edge of the top of the arena a layer of polytetrafluorethylene (Fluon) was painted in order to prevent slugs leaving the arena. Fluon was observed to have no apparent impct on slug behaviour, other than upon encounter with the painted layer around the outside of the arena, a slug would turn away from the layer and continue to move around the arena. During video analysis, slugs were numbered, and their behaviour recorded throughout the trial in order to identify and record whether a slug encountered a pellet during the exposure phase. Treatment pellets (Table 3.1) were placed at 9 baiting points evenly distributed around the arena (Appendix 1). Slugs were then placed at equidistant intervals around the pellets (a maximum of 6 slugs per trial, 5 trials per treatment pellet) and left for 14 hours starting at 18.00 to move freely around the arena and interact with the treatment pellets. At any one time, 3 trials were run simultaneously in separate arenas. A total of 30 slugs were exposed to each treatment pellet type.

Treatment	Pellet Contents	
1	1% metaldehyde (laboratory made)	
2	3% metaldehyde (laboratory made)	
3	5% metaldehyde (laboratory made)	
4	No pellets	
5	Non-toxic control Pellet	
6	Lonza Axcela® 3% Pellet	

**Table 3.1** Number of pellet treatments and contents. All laboratory made pellets were made

 with laboratory grade 99.9% metaldehyde, flour and oil.

Each trial lasted a total of 14 hours, with 10 hours being in dark overnight conditions and 4 hours in artificial daylight, 2 hours at the beginning and the end 2 of the trial. During the 10 hours of dark, infrared illumination was used order to be able to video record slug behaviour during the trial.

Slug behaviour was recorded using Brinno BLC200 HDR Laboratory-Cam Time Lapse recording cameras and set at a frame rate of 10 frames per second. Video recordings were analysed in order to confirm interaction with treatment pellets.

# 3.4.4 Slug Recovery

After the end of the pellet exposure phase of the trial, the health status of each slug was assessed. Slug health status was categorised as follows:

• Not poisoned- no signs of paralysis and poisoning, the skin ripples to touch and slug is moving freely, and no excess of mucus noted.

• Partial paralysis – slug is on soil surface and moving but at a slower pace than expected. Skin still ripples to touch however noticeable mucus secretions around slug.

• Severely paralysed- slug is on soil surface and is barely moving, there may be a large amount of white/ clear mucus surrounding the slug which is likely to be on its side. Skin moves to touch when examined with magnification.

• Dead- no signs of life, skin does not ripple on touch.

Each slug was then moved into an individually labelled Petri dish lined on the bottom with a round of damp filter paper. Petri dishes were stacked and stored in bags in the controlled temperature room in order to maintain day: night cycles and regulate temperature. Each slug was then checked every day for the following three days and a record of their health status was made. Slugs that showed signs of severe paralysis/ death were checked with magnification for ripples on the mantle upon touch.

# 3..4.5 Statistical analysis

Results were analysed using Chi Squared contingency table analysis in order to compare categorical variables in R (R Core team 2020). For the purpose of this research, only one control treatment (control pellets) was used in the analysis in order to compare only pellet containing treatments.

#### **3.5 Results**

After 14 hours exposure to treatment pellets of various metaldehyde contents, the health status of *Deroceras reticulatum* showed great variation dependent on which pellet it had been exposed to. Slugs subject to the non-toxic control pellet and those that had not been exposed to any pellets showed high levels of good health (i.e., not paralysed) with only one slug observed to have died in the "no pellet" treatment (Figure 3.1). Slugs from populations that were exposed to metaldehyde based pellets displayed poorer health conditions, with the majority of slugs showing signs of either moderate or severe paralysis. After 14 hours exposure to pellets, the highest incidence of deaths occurred in slugs that had been subject to 5% metaldehyde pellets (23% death rate) compared to 1%, 3% and Lonza Axcela® death rates (7%, 10% and 10% respectively). Slugs showing no signs of poisoning were more than twice as numerous in the 5% metaldehyde treatment population compared to both 1% metaldehyde and Lonza Axcela® pellets.



Figure 3.1 Health status of a population of 30 *Deroceras reticulatum* after 14 hours exposure to pellets of varying levels of metaldehyde concentration. Each slug population was subject to only one treatment pellet (n=30).

After 72 hours placed in individual recovery conditions allowing for slugs to rehydrate, slug populations in all metaldehyde treatments suffered approximately 30% mortality, with the remainder of the populations either paralysed or apparently recovered from the effects of the metaldehyde pellet. A higher concentration of metaldehyde in the pellet did not yield a higher mortality rate, although the numbers of both severely and moderately paralysed slugs was lower in 5% metaldehyde compared to both 1%, 3% and Axcela® treatments (Figure 3.2). The relative mortality between treatments did not change from 14 hours to 72 hours ( $X^2_{(4, 150)}$  = 4.918, P = 0.393). Slugs exposed to metaldehyde pellets recovered in all treatments, and recovery was slightly higher in both 1% and 5% metaldehyde pellets (20% and 23% recovery) when compared to both of the 3% metaldehyde pellet treatments 10% and 13%



recovery rate in 3% laboratory made and Axcela® pellets respectively), though not significantly.



A proportion of slugs remained paralysed in all metaldehyde treatments after 72 hours of recovery, however there was a higher level of paralysis in lower concentrations of all metaldehyde treatments when compared to 5% metaldehyde. Results of Chi Squared contingency analysis showed that there was no significant difference between treatment and the number of slugs paralysed (moderately and severely combined) before and 72 hours after recovery,  $X^2_{(4,150)} = 1.784$ , P = 0.780. Paralysis proportions across all metaldehyde treatments decreased after recovery compared to proportions initially after exposure. The commercial treatment, Lonza's Axcela® pellet, gave a similar proportion of paralysed slug population to

that of 1% metaldehyde treatment however had high proportions of severely paralysed slugs when compared to laboratory made treatments after 72 hours recovery.

#### 3.6 Discussion

This research aimed to provide insight into the effect of metaldehyde on the health of *Deroceras reticulatum* and how the rate of recovery of a poisoned slug placed in ideal conditions may change with metaldehyde concentration.

In this laboratory-based research, *Deroceras reticulatum* were exposed to slug pellets of various metaldehyde concentration over a 14-hour period in order to replicate one full night of foraging in the field. The health status of the slug was then assessed in terms of mortality and paralysis. It was hypothesised that increasing concentration of metaldehyde may have one of three outcomes for the slug behaviourally either, the slug would detect the higher concentration of metaldehyde and reject the pellet entirely (1), or feed on the pellet for a short amount of time causing the slug to be unaffected or moderately paralysed (2), or the slug would feed on the pellet and consume a lethal dose of metaldehyde more frequently than with to lower concentration pellets (3).

Paralysis status was of interest in this study, given the evidence that slugs often succumb to secondary mortality in the field after metaldehyde poisoning (Lagan et al. 2004, Glen et al. 1989).

#### 3.6.1 Not Paralysed

The treatment groups of *Deroceras reticulatum* that were exposed to the non-toxic grain pellets and those that were exposed to no pellets, showed, as expected, good health both after initial exposure and after three days of being in recovery conditions. This is unsurprising due to the lack of molluscicide present in the trials but confirms that for the non-toxic grain pellet (which is identical to the Lonza Axcela® pellet) it is the metaldehyde in the pellet that has the molluscicidal effects (Wright and Williams 1980).

Both 1%, 3% and Lonza Axcela® pellet treatment groups had low levels of slugs not seemingly affected by the pellets (approximately 10% for each group). Over 20% of slugs exposed to 5% metaldehyde were unaffected by the pellets both after initial exposure and three days of recovery. This could suggest that 5% metaldehyde pellet is more easily detected by a D.

*reticulatum* and is more likely to be rejected when encountered in the field, which would support hypotheses 1 and 2 mentioned previously.

## 3.6.2 Paralysed

Paralysis of *Deroceras reticulatum* was divided into two categories: moderately or servery paralysed. It was predicted that moderately paralysed slugs had consumed less molluscicide (weight for weight) compared to severely paralysed slugs, and therefore would be more likely to recover in the field. On the other hand, severely paralysed slugs are more likely to not recover or be predated upon due to their inability to move. After initial pellet exposure, groups from all treatments had a high proportion of slugs that were moderately or severely paralysed. More than 80% of slugs in the 1% treatment group showed signs of paralysis after initial exposure, which indicates that a large proportion of slugs accepted the low concentration slug pellet and consumed enough pellet in order for the molluscicide to begin to have detrimental effects on the slug's health. In an agricultural setting, it could be that this would be sufficient enough for predation or daylight dehydration to occur within the paralysed population, removing a large proportion of the pest.

Both 3% and Lonza Axcela® pellets yielded slightly higher levels of severely paralysed slugs when compared to 1% and 5% metaldehyde treatment groups after initial pellet exposure. In the field, this could mean that more slugs would be lying on the soil surface and would be likely to succumb to secondary mortality. Fewer slugs were paralysed after initial exposure to 5% metaldehyde, supporting the theory that this high concertation of pellet could be seen to work on an "all or nothing" basis dependent on individual slug behaviour.

After three days of recovery, an extremely small proportion of slugs remained paralysed for 5% metaldehyde, and these individuals had either died or recovered from the poisoning. Levels of paralysis remained relatively high (around 40%) for 1%, 3% and Axcela® pellets, which implies that recovery from metaldehyde poisoning may take longer than anticipated, and that other factors, such as food and nutrient availably may play a role in recovery. Remaining for longer in a paralysed state increases the risk of slugs being predated upon or dehydrating due to weather conditions, and it could be that this is an as effective control by metaldehyde as causing slug mortality. Moderate paralysis was seen in higher proportions after 3 days of

recovery for both 1% and 3% metaldehyde groups, which suggests that slugs can survive for longer if only moderately paralysed which again has implications both for secondary mortality and recovery.

## 3.6.3 Mortality

The highest concentration metaldehyde treatment group (5%) gave rise to the highest proportion of deaths after initial exposure (approximately 20% of the population). This is still a low proportion of a population and is unlikely to translate to noticeable protection of crops. Lower concentrations of metaldehyde resulted in approximately 10% mortality of the treatment groups after initial contact. Low mortality rates imply that the slug has not consumed a sufficient amount of the pellet which would deliver a lethal dose. If a slug is unlikely to consume the lethal dose of a pellet over one night of foraging this may be problematic for growers if there is a rainfall event shortly after application. Metaldehyde is highly mobile and is easily leached out of a pellet after a rainfall event and on contact with soil moisture (Edwards et al. 2009, Zhang et al. 2006, Zhang et al. 2011), and therefore pellets may lose their potency quickly dependent on environmental factors. Ideally, pellet consumption should deliver the lethal dose in the first meal or certainly within that night of foraging in order to avoid issues with metaldehyde loss. The proportion of slugs that died across all metaldehyde treatments after three days of recovery was around 30% and this is similar to previous metaldehyde recovery studies (Wedgwood and Bailey 1988). Mortality is still lower than required in order to produce effective slug control in the field and may provide a reason for growers reporting slug related crop damage despite employing molluscicide pellets to control the population (Iglesias 2003).

#### 3.6.4 Recovery

Recovery for both 1% and 5% treatment groups were approximately 20% of the poisoned population. If almost a fifth of the population can recover from the dehydrating effects of metaldehyde after 3 days of rehydration, this indicates that a substantial proportion of the population may be sustained after exposure to metaldehyde. For both 3% and Axcela® pellets, only 10% of the population recovered, meaning more of the populations exposed to 3% metaldehyde have either suffered mortality or remained paralysed. Ideal recovery conditions in a laboratory-based setting are difficult to simulate due to the many abiotic and biotic factors

that could have a positive or negative effect on slug health. Rehydration is likely to be the key factor in determining whether a slug may recover from metaldehyde poisoning (Bourne et al. 1988), and it is for this reason that water availability was the only factor included in the recovery setting. *Deroceras reticulatum* is able to survive for many days without regular feeding (Godan 1983) and therefore it was predicted that a lack of food would not have a significant influence on the ability for the slug to recover.

# 3.6.5 The Importance of Metaldehyde Concentration

Metaldehyde slug pellets are sold commercially at concentrations ranging from 1- 5% metaldehyde, and the industry standard for agronomic uses tends to be around 3% concentration. While agricultural slug pellet application in England and Wales has remained relatively constant over the past 10 years, there is not a marked decrease in the amount of slug damage to crops at the end of each growing season, as would be expected with successful pesticide use (Garthwaite et al. 2019) Metaldehyde pellets are of major concern to the UK water industry due to the chemical's high mobility in the environment, particularly after heavy rainfall events. Metaldehyde is a pollution risk to surface water and it can be detected in river catchments where concentrations regularly exceed the EU Drinking Water Directive limit of 0.1ug/l of a single pesticide (Castle 2017). On top of the pollution risk, metaldehyde is extremely difficult to remove from drinking water systems once detected and has the potential to cost water bodies millions of pounds in setting up effective treatment systems (Ibrahim et al. 2019). Metaldehyde pellets are a danger to non-target organisms, particularly animals found in similar habitats to slugs or those that feed on invertebrates, such as hedgehogs and birds (Attademo et al. 2016, Gething et al. 2020, Lagnan and Shaw 2006). Organisms that consume poisoned slugs are also at risk of secondary poisoning themselves, and it could be that applying lower concentration pellets in the field will alleviate this risk. On the other hand, the application of lower concentration pellets may result in increased application rates during the growing season, due to fewer fatal poisonings from low concentration pellts.

Considering the risk to the environment, it is imperative that the control of slugs is made as efficient and as effective as possible. Observations of continued slug damage at the end of the growing season indicate that there may be issues at the pest – pellet interaction level that are inhibiting the pellet from working as an effective molluscicide (Howling 1991).

#### **3.7 Conclusion**

Although 5% metaldehyde resulted in the highest mortality rate after initial exposure, there was a higher proportion of slugs that had not been affected by the pellet also after exposure. It is likely that a high concentration pellet results in higher levels of molluscicide detection by the slug and is therefore more likely to be rejected by a high proportion of a population in the field. Both the commercial and laboratory made 3% pellet produced similar results in terms of low initial mortality and high levels of paralysis, although after recovery it was noticeable that a higher proportion of slugs subject to the commercial pellet remained severely paralysed and would be arrested on the soil surface when compared to the non-commercial 3% pellet, which implies that pellet formulation is key in producing an effective pellet. Exposure to 1% pellets yielded interested results in that the proportions of slugs paralysed, dead and recovered were not dissimilar to those exposed to 3% pellets.

While 3% pellets are generally observed as the industry standard, research into the effectiveness and stability of a 1% pellet in an agricultural setting that could yield similar mortality and paralysis as 3% pellets may be a way forward in reducing the amount of metaldehyde applied to the environment. Maintaining pellet potency would be essential in designing a 1% pellet, as current formulations allow metaldehyde to leach into surface water and it would be vital that the pellet retained the molluscicide for as long as possible due to its reduced concentration. Paralysis by metaldehyde pellets may be as important as direct mortality due to the existence of natural predators, however the rate of predation is extremely difficult to quantify (Langan et al. 2001). Consumption by predators of slugs that have been paralysed with 1% metaldehyde would also be less likely to cause secondary poisoning and smaller amounts of metaldehyde bioaccumulation (Zhang et al. 2011) in the food chain and therefore the replacement of 3% pellets with 1% pellets may be beneficial not only to the water industry, but to non-target organisms.
Chapter 4: The Potential uses of Inorganic Controlled Release Technology (iCRT) for Metaldehyde Based Molluscicides

### 4.1 Abstract

Metaldehyde, when consumed by slugs, not only triggers increased mucous production leading to dehydration, but it also causes muscle immobilisation and paralysis. Issues surrounding the ineffectiveness of metaldehyde-based slug pellets are due, in part, because of early detection of metaldehyde by a slug when grazing on a pellet. One solution to early detection could be to "hide" metaldehyde using controlled release technology and delay the release of the substance until further into the slug's digestive system, which would increase consumption of a pellet and therefore increased chances of a lethal dosage of metaldehyde consumed by a slug. In order to explore the potential of inorganic controlled release technology (iCRT) for molluscicides the palatability of three novel formulations of metaldehyde incorporated into a silicon matrix was assessed by measuring slug consumption. Results of bioassay trials for iCRT formulation 1 suggested that iCRT containing metaldehyde was not palatable and metaldehyde could still be detected by the slugs. There was no significant difference between the median consumption of pellets with iCRT metaldehyde or with metaldehyde alone. Pellets made with iCRT formulation 2, which contained half the amount of metaldehyde of iCRT formulation 1, or made with metaldehyde alone, were again consumed significantly less than those made without metaldehyde. Coating a commercial metaldehyde pellet with iCRT (iCRT formulation 3) did not increase pellet consumption when compared to a non-coated metaldehyde pellet. The results suggest the need for further development of controlled release technology containing metaldehyde.

#### **4.2 Introduction**

In order to reduce the risk of poisoning non target organisms, as well as reduce environmental pollution risk, advances in pesticide technology have been focused on creating more species-specific formulations. The creation of a highly specific pesticide requires highly complex technologies in order to create a chemical formulation that presents minimal risk to any organism beside its target, often by targeting specific conditions inside the target animal, for example, gut pH or specific environmental conditions (Park et al). Recently, attention has turned to nanotechnology as a way to create such specific pesticides. Nanotechnology, defined as the study and use of matter from 1-100 nm (Poole and Owens 2003) and is at the forefront of improved pesticide design. Nanopesticides are usually made of a combination of organic and inorganic compounds and are designed to improve to control the release of an active pesticide substance, protect the active ingredient from degradation or increase the solubility of an active ingredient (Ragaei and Sabry 2014).

# 4.2.1 Controlled Release Technologies in Agriculture

The ability to control the release of an active substance is one of the key attributes in the development of a new and existing pesticide formulations. This branch of nanotechnology is well established in medicine, with controlled release technologies enabling active substances to be released only under specific environmental circumstances or after a defined period of time (Langer and Peppas 2006). Such release technologies allow highly specific spatial and temporal delivery, which has led to significant increases in drug efficiency and treatment success (Bhusal et al 2016, Liechtly and Peppas 2012). Typically, controlled release technologies involve the encapsulation of an active ingredient in a non-organic matrix, for example, silicon which can be engineered to break down under specific environmental circumstances.

The use of controlled release technologies in agricultural pesticides is still very much in its infancy, however in the last decade there has been a noted increase in research surrounding the area of controlled release technologies and pesticides (Singh et al. 2020).

# 4.2.2 Metaldehyde as a Molluscicide

Metaldehyde based pellets are the most common pesticide used in slug control in western farming. Typically, commercially available from concentrations of 1 - 3% metaldehyde, the grain-based pellets are broadcast over the surface of agricultural land or incorporated into the seed bed at the time of seed drilling. The molluscicidal effects of these pellets are entirely dependent on encounters with the pellets by pest slugs, upon which pellets are ideally consumed by the organism. The molluscicidal effect of metaldehyde is twofold - initially it is an irritant of gastropod mucus glands, causing dehydration and desiccation, and if consumed in large enough quantities, it acts as a nerve poison, immobilising the slug which is then likely to succumb to secondary mortality either from dehydration or predation by natural predators such as birds, ground beetles or hedgehogs.

Risks and problems arising from the use of metaldehyde in conventional farming is a contentious issue. Metaldehyde application presents a large groundwater contamination risk, which has led to pollution of drinking water exceeding the EU Drinking Water Directive maximum limit of 0.01ug/l for a single pesticide in drinking water (European Food Safety Authority 2010). Metaldehyde is also a risk to non-target organisms (Saad et al. 2017), and there is evidence that the molluscicide may persist in soil, although detection was below the minimum detection level (Zhang et al. 2011). In December 2018, the UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), announced a UK wide ban of the outdoor use of metaldehyde and for the molluscicide to be phased out over proceeding 18 months because the molluscicide presented an unprecedented risk to wildlife (DEFRA 2018). This decision was condemned by the National Farmers Union, farmers across the UK and molluscicide manufacturers, and a legal challenge by Chiltern Farm Chemicals saw the ban overturned in 2019.

Whilst the fate of metaldehyde use still hangs in balance in the UK, it should be noted that 23 of the EU's member states still use metaldehyde as a major form of agricultural slug control. Improvements to how the pesticide is manufactured could reduce both the water pollution and environmental risk presented by metaldehyde. In this chapter, the palatability of metaldehyde incorporated into a novel controlled release technology is tested with the grey field slug, (*Deroceras reticulatum*). The pellets tested contained inorganic controlled release technology (iCRT) metaldehyde and a mixture of flour and oil to form a pellet. The grey field

65

slug is the most economically important gastropod pest in the UK, and improvements to molluscicide technology may have the potential to both improve slug control while reducing the negative effects of the pesticide.

# 4.3 Aims and Objectives

This research aimed to test the palatability and molluscicidal effect of three iCRT metaldehyde formulations. It was predicted that loading metaldehyde into a silicon matrix would mask the molluscicidal effects of the pellet and therefore the slug would be more likely to consume a lethal dose of metaldehyde. The delivery of a higher concentration of metaldehyde to the slug would probably result in an increased likelihood of mortality. For the purpose of this research, palatability of a pellet was inferred by measuring the consumption of a pellet by a slug.

The specific objectives of this research were:

- To test the palatability of iCRT metaldehyde pellets compared to non iCRT metaldehyde pellets. It was predicted that iCRT metaldehyde would be more palatable to slugs compared to non iCRT due to the controlled release technology delaying detection of the molluscicide by the slug.
- 2) To test the effect of lower concentrations of iCRT metaldehyde on pellet palatability when compared to higher iCRT metaldehyde concentrations. It was hypothesised that iCRT metaldehyde would be further palatable to slugs at lower concentrations as opposed to higher.
- 3) To test the palatability of coating a commercial metaldehyde pellet with iCRT compared to the palatability of a non-coated metaldehyde pellet. It was predicted that coating a commercial 3% metaldehyde pellet with an iCRT formulation not containing metaldehyde would act as a palatable enough food source to arrest the slug at the pellet and encourage eventual consumption of the pellet.

#### 4.4 Methodology

## 4.4.1 Slugs

All slugs (*Deroceras reticulatum*) were collected from amenity grassland in Northumberland, UK. Collection, slug selection and acclimatisation took place following the same methodology described in section 3.4.1 Slugs were collected the evening before the beginning of the trial and stored in a damp refrigerated (3-5°c) environment overnight until use. Slugs were then starved and acclimatised for 24 hours to a controlled temperature room  $(15 \pm 1^{\circ}C, daylight: night 12:12)$  where the trial would take place. All slugs were weighed in order to ensure an even distribution of slug sizes between treatments.

# 4.4.2 iCRT and Pellet Creation

Three iCRT based formulations were created by a manufacturer based on preliminary trials with a novel iCRT metaldehyde formulation. The first metaldehyde formulation, iCRT 1, was formed of iCRT powder (20%) and metaldehyde (4.95%), which equated to a 1% metaldehyde pellet concentration. The second formulation, iCRT was contained half the amount of metaldehyde compared to iCRT 1 (2.5%). The third formulation coated commercial 3% Axcela® metaldehyde pellets in iCRT powder. Acceptance of the iCRT pellets by *D. reticulatum* was compared to iCRT pellets containing no metaldehyde, laboratory made metaldehyde pellets with no iCRT and grain or flour controls control containing no metaldehyde or iCRT. Each formulation starting from iCRT 1 was developed by the manufacturer in response to the results of the previous formulation.

Pellets were made in the laboratory using a combination of plain flour, olive oil and the appropriate treatment powder (Appendix 2). Oil was added to the flour and treatment mix in order to create a firm, but malleable dough, which was then cut into 1g pieces and formed into small pellet like spheres.

# 4.4.3 Experimental Set Up

Individually labelled 9cm Petri dishes were inverted with a single sheet of filter paper on the base. The filter paper was soaked with distilled water and the excess shaken off. Pellets for iCRT formulations 1 and 2 were placed in plastic lid caps (1cm in diameter) in order to

minimising leaching onto the filter paper. One treatment pellet was placed in one lid cap and placed in the centre of each Petri dish and one slug was then introduced per Petri dish. For iCRT formulation 3, one pellet per treatment was placed in the centre of each Petri dish 24 hours prior to the introduction of a slug in order to allow the pellets to soften. Petri dishes were then stacked in number order so to randomise treatments and placed into clear plastic bags in order to reduce moisture loss. These bags were then stored in the controlled temperature room and left undisturbed until data collection was required.

# 4.4.4 Data Collection

Petri dishes were checked 24 and 96 hours after the initial introduction of the slugs to the trial. The amount of pellet consumed per Petri dish was recorded as well as the mortality status and condition of the slug. Trials were undertaken in batches and due to accessibility issues 21 slugs were assessed after 24 hours exposure to iCRT 1, but the full 32 slugs were assessed after 96 hours exposure. It was decided that exposure after 96 hours was more likely to represent true palatability of the formulations.

## 4.4.5 Statistical Analysis

Percentage consumption estimates were converted into a consumption scale in order to standardise results (Table 4.1). Percentage consumption was converted into a scale in order to standardise consumption rates between formulations. Since amount consumed was a subjective measurement, it was agreed that a scale would be more accurate in describing consumption recordings on different days and formulations. For each iCRT formulation median consumptions were analysed using nonparametric one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) in R (R Core Team 2018).

**Table 4.1** Consumption scale for amount of pellet consumed in iCRT bioassay trials.Percentage estimates of pellet consumption were converted into a scale in order tostandardise results.

0	0
1-10	1
11-20	2
21-30	3
31-40	4
41-50	5
51-60	6
61-70	7
71-80	8
81-90	9
91-100	10

Percentage Pellet Consumption Consumption Scale

# 4.5.1 iCRT Metaldehyde Formulation 1 Consumption After 24 and 96 Hours

Consumption of all pellets 24 hours in the bioassay was relatively low (Figure 4.1), with slugs only consuming up to 50% of a single pellet and there was no significant difference between the average consumption of pellets between all treatments (F(3,80) = 0.004, p = 0.949). Consumption of metaldehyde pellets appeared to be lower when compared to the non metaldehyde treatments, with the majority of slugs consuming none of the pellets containing metaldehyde. Three pellets from pellets with metaldehyde were consumed up to 20%, indicating that pellets containing 1% metaldehyde could be consumed by slugs. Consumption of non metaldehyde treatment pellets was also low, with a median consumption scale of 1, suggesting that 10% or less of non-toxic pellets had been consumed, however the range of pellet consumption reached up to scale 4 and 6 for the iCRT control and grain control respectively, indicating the potential increased palatability of these pellets when compared to metaldehyde containing pellets.



**Figure 4.1** Slug consumption of treatment pellets after 24 hours exposure in a Petri dish bioassay. There was no significant difference between the average consumption of each treatment pellet type (F(3,80)=0.004, p=0.949) (n=21).

Pellet consumption after 96 hours increased for both control treatments, and the 1% metaldehyde pellet, and all treatments showed slightly increased pellet consumption (Figure 4.2). Median pellet consumption for non metaldehyde treatments tripled and doubled, with up to 30% of an ICRT control pellet consumed per slug, and up to 20% of a grain control consumed. Pellet consumption for metaldehyde containing treatments remained low (up to

10% of a single pellet consumed) and there was no significant difference in the average consumption of any of the treatment pellets (F(3,124)=2.958, p=0.088).



**Figure 4.2** Slug consumption of treatment pellets after 96 hours exposure in a Petri dish bioassay. There was no significant difference between the average consumption of each pellet type (F(1,127)=2.958, p=0.088) (n=32).

# 4.5.2 iCRT Metaldehyde Formulation 2 Consumption After 24 and 96 Hours

After 24 hours, consumption of all pellet types was low with a maximum median pellet consumption of 10% (Figure 4.3). Pellets of each treatment type were consumed by slugs in each bioassay, and on average there was significantly higher consumption of the iCRT

control when compared to the three remaining metaldehyde treatments (F (3,124) = 6.236, p= 0.014). All metaldehyde containing treatments were not initially consumed by up to 50% of the slugs in each treatment trial, suggesting the detection of the active ingredient in the pellets.



**Figure 4.3** *Deroceras reticulatum* consumption of treatment pellets after 24 hours exposure in a Petri dish bioassay (n=32).

Consumption of all pellet types increased 96 hours after the introduction of slugs to the bioassay (Figure 4.4). There were no statistically significant differences between the average consumption of any of the pellet types (F(3,124)=2.958, p=0.088), however slugs consumed more of the iCRT control pellet, with double the median consumption of up to 20% of a pellet when compared to treatments containing metaldehyde. Outlying data suggests that iCRT containing pellets were consumed up to between 21-30%, while the non-metaldehyde control was consumed between 91-100%.



**Figure 4.4** *Deroceras reticulatum* consumption of treatment pellets after 96 hours exposure in a Petri dish bioassay (n=32).

# 4.5.3 iCRT Coated Pellet Formulation Consumption After 24 and 96 Hours

Consumption of all pellets was extremely low 24 hours into the bioassay (Figure 4.5). Metaldehyde containing pellet treatments were not consumed at all by any slug, and up to 50% of slugs subject to the non-toxic control consumed up to 10% of a pellet, although one slug was observed to consume the entire pellet after 24 hours. Average consumption of the control pellet was significantly higher compared to both metaldehyde pellets (F(1,88)=19.75, p < 0.001).



**Figure 4.5** Consumption of pellets by *Deroceras reticulatum* in a Petri dish bioassay after 24 hours. (n=32).

Slugs readily consumed all of the non-toxic control pellet after 96 hours, with the exception of one slug which did not consume any of its pellet, which was observed to have died during the trial (Figure 4.6). The non-toxic control pellet was consumed significantly more when compared to both metaldehyde pellets (F(1,88)19.75, p<0.001). Up to 50% of slugs in treatment trials containing metaldehyde did not visibly consume any pellet upon observation, however, still more slugs consumed more of the iCRT coated metaldehyde pellet when compared to the commercial pellet alone.



**Figure 4.6** Consumption of pellets by *Deroceras reticulatum in* a Petri dish bioassay after 96 hours. (n=32).

## 4.6 Discussion

This research aimed to test the acceptability of novel metaldehyde slug pellets using inorganic controlled release technology which is currently being used in a number of pesticides and herbicides (Cao et al. 2016, Roy et al. 2014, Sheng et al. 2015). Improvements to metaldehyde based slug pellets are imperative as this widely used molluscicide is a significant water pollution risk and threat to non-target organisms (Hunter 1995). Consumption of each pellet was very low although median consumption of both treatment pellets containing no metaldehyde was higher compared to those containing the molluscicide. After 96 hours, median consumption for metaldehyde containing pellets remained at 10% or less. These results suggest detection of the molluscicidal element of the pellet by the slug and therefore suggests that the iCRT formulation containing 4.95% metaldehyde was ineffective in masking the molluscicide from the slug.

Halving the metaldehyde contents of the iCRT formulation was then tested in iCRT 2 treatments. Comparisons between iCRT metaldehyde pellets 0.07%, iCRT metaldehyde pellets 0.28%, metaldehyde no iCRT 0.28% pellets and iCRT pellet with no metaldehyde demonstrated detection of metaldehyde by the slug at extremely low concentrations. Consumption of iCRT pellets containing no metaldehyde was significantly higher after 24 hours into the trial, suggesting that the iCRT formulation could be acceptable to slugs for consumption. After 96 hours, there was no statistically significant difference in the median consumption of each pellet treatment, however treatments containing metaldehyde were consumed half as much as the control iCRT treatment containing no metaldehyde.

While iCRT 1 and 2 formulations with microencapsulated metaldehyde appeared to be unsuccessful at preventing early detection of metaldehyde by the *D. reticulatum*, the results suggested the iCRT formulation without metaldehyde was palatable to the slug. This could infer that slight adjustments to the matrix within the formulation would allow for successful delivery of metaldehyde. Indeed, there are many methods and formulations available to be used in nanotechnology based pesticides (Nuruzzaman et al 2016, Oliveira et al. 2018). A different approach was taken for the final iCRT trail, iCRT 3. Instead of forming pellets with a flour and oil base, pre-manufactured Lonza Axcela® pellets were coated in the iCRT

powder formulation, creating an iCRT shell around the 3% metaldehyde pellet. Acceptance of this pellet was compared to uncoated Axcela® pellets and a non-toxic grain pellet equivalent to the Axcela® pellet without metaldehyde. It was hypothesised that coating the metaldehyde pellets in an acceptable food source would arrest the slug upon consumption, meaning the slug would continue to consume the pellet due to the inclusion of an appealing food source. Consumption of the control pellet was significantly higher after both 24 and 96 hours into the trial and suggests that coating the Axcela® pellet in an iCRT formulation had no effect on reducing the detection of metaldehyde by a slug. It could be that during the coating process, a chemical reaction between the iCRT powder and the pellet made the novel pellet unappealing to the slug and it was observed that pellets coated with iCRT powder were a slightly different colour when compared to the non-coated Axcela® pellets. The extremely low consumption of the Axcela® pellet was surprising and contrasts with results observed in the previous chapters of this research. On stark contrast between the previous chapters and this research trial was that the Axcela® pellet was on soil for previous chapters, as opposed to on filter paper. It could be that the damped filter paper increases the leaching process of metaldehyde out of the pellet and therefore the slug detects the presence of metaldehyde earlier than on soil, meaning the pellet is more likely to be rejected. The rationale behind performing this research on filter paper in Petri dishes was to avoid any external factors that may impact palatability, however in doing so, the leaching of metaldehyde may have been increased as a result. This research could be repeated on soil conditions similar to methods described in chapters 3 and 4 and compared to the results from this chapter.

This research has further demonstrated that *D. reticulatum* may be able to detect metaldehyde at extremely low level, even less that 1% concertation (Wedgewood and Bailey 1988). This may give some insight into the issues surrounding the ineffectiveness of slug control by use of metaldehyde pellets in agriculture. It could be that detection in soil from pellet leaching could deter a slug from feeding, or that metaldehyde could be detected by olfactory cues. It is difficult to determine the point at which a slug may detect metaldehyde, however it could be that in this research metaldehyde may have leached onto filter paper (although this is unlikely due to pellets being placed in plastic caps in order to avoid this), or that the slug can detect metaldehyde before physical contact. Research suggests that slugs persistently sample food sources in their environment (Whelan 1982) and it is likely that slugs may have encountered

the novel pellets, taken a "test bite" and decided it was unpalatable when pellet consumption was shown to be extremely low.

### 4.7 Conclusions

iCRT metaldehyde proved to be no more effective in being an acceptable food substance than metaldehyde pellets alone. Chemical reactions when including metaldehyde into the iCRT matrix are likely to have occurred which may have altered the chemical structure of both substances, potentially rendering the iCRT matrix ineffective in masking the molluscicide. When coating Axcela® pellets with iCRT, pellets showed a number of inconsistences in coating thickness which may have led to some pellets being less consumable compared to other pellets. Seed dressing are a potential area of future research for iCRT metaldehyde (Simms et al. 2002) due to the apparent low palatability of encapsulated metaldehyde.

Though the inclusion of metaldehyde in the iCRT formulations in this research suggests that the molluscicide was not successfully encapsulated in order to increase delivery to the target organism, it highlights the need for further exploration of other formulations and technologies in this area. The development of nano-pesticides is still very much in its infancy, and even after the development of a formulation that is successful in its effect on the target organism, broader issues and questions arise around the application of these technologies in the field such as the persistence of its residues in water, soil and crops (Arias- Esteves et al. 2007). Evidence from this research suggests that slugs will readily consume pellets made with iCRT formulation that does not contain metaldehyde, which could suggest the potential for iCRT metaldehyde pellets being a viable option if alterations are made to the inclusion of metaldehyde in the formulation. **Chapter 5: General Discussion** 

### 5.1 Thesis Overview

This research provides knowledge of the impact molluscicides have on the movement, feeding and health of *Deroceras reticulatum*, with particular focus on the concentration of the molluscicidal ingredient. Pellet based molluscicides are likely to remain the most common form of slug control in agriculture due to the nature of pest slug invasions and limited molluscicides available for large scale control. It is for this reason that it is essential that the pest-pellet interaction between *D. reticulatum* and a molluscicide pellet is well described and understood, in order to inform for enhancements to pellet design leading to improved slug control. Understanding the relationship between slug and pellet, also provides knowledge of how better to use and apply pellets in order to maximise control. This research suggests *D. reticulatum* is able to detect metaldehyde prior to pellet contact, and it could be that this is due to leached metaldehyde present in the substrate that the pellet is on. Findings in chapters two and three suggest that low concentrations (1% as opposed to 5% metaldehyde) are more palatable to the slug.

Studying the behaviour of *Deroceras reticulatum* in a laboratory-based setting allows for more control over external factors that may influence behaviour when compared to a field based setting. Behavioural studies that concentrated on the movement and foraging behaviour of the slug (chapter 3) took place in arenas filled with damped agricultural clay- loam soil, which allowed the slug free movement around the arena unrestricted only to the limits of the arena boundaries. It was important that slugs were allowed to interact with pellets in the most natural way possible, and so for this reason in chapters 3 and 4 slugs were exposed to pellets over a 14-hour period over-night, in order to replicate how foraging may take place out in the field. No plants or food sources were included in these behavioural assays, as observations based solely the effect of the molluscicide was on slug behaviour was the targeted outcome of this research. It is likely that external food sources will impact on slug foraging behaviour (Cordoba et al. 2018) however this research aims to provide behavioural information surrounding the pest- pellet interaction.

83

## **5.2 Summary of Chapters**

The acceptability of pellets containing metaldehyde, ferric phosphate or non-molluscicide to D. reticulatum in chapter 3 appeared high with the majority of slugs encountering and feeding on a pellet at least once throughout the 14 hour trial however the palatability of pellets was differentiated with the average time D. reticulatum spent feeding on each pellet type. D. reticulatum spent significantly longer feeding on both 1% metaldehyde and ferric phosphate pellets when compared to 3, 5% and Axcela® pellets. It could be that 1% metaldehyde pellets are more palatable compared to higher concentration pellets because the slug does not detect the molluscicide during consumption, whereas higher concentrations will deliver a high dose of metaldehyde per bite which may cause irritation of the mucus glands after fewer bites compared to 1% pellets. It could also be that after consumption of a higher concentration metaldehyde pellet, slugs are incapacitated on the soil surface and unable to locate and feed on subsequent pellets. Observations of pellet reacceptance showed that slugs exposed to 3, 5% and Axcela® pellets were around 25% less likely to reaccept a pellet compared to slugs exposed to 1% and ferric phosphate. Feeding time was significantly higher for Ferric phosphate pellets compared to 3%, 5% metaldehyde and Axcela® pellets, and this is likely that due to the contrasting modes of action between ferric phosphate and metaldehyde. Mortality by ferric phosphate tends to occur 5-7 days after pellet consumption (Horgan et al 2006) and therefore it is unlikely that slugs are able to detect the molluscicidal effect of the pellet during consumption.

Recovery from metaldehyde pellets is predicted to be one of the main reasons inhibiting effective slug control (Crawford- Sidebotham 1970, Glen and Orsman 1986). In chapter 4, the recovery rates of *D. reticulatum* after exposure to varying concentrations of metaldehyde pellets indicated that recovery was higher for slugs exposed to 1% and 5% metaldehyde compared to the 3% metaldehyde pellets. It could be that at both concentrations the lethal dose of metaldehyde is not being delivered to the slug by pellet consumption. At 1%, too little metaldehyde may be delivered to the slug so that it can dermally/ orally rehydrate after moderate paralysis from the pellet. At 5% metaldehyde, it could be that the slug detects the molluscicide more quickly due to the higher dose delivery per bite and stops feeding before a lethal dose can be delivered. After the recovery time, a higher percentage of slugs for 1%, 3%

and Axcela® pellets were either moderately or severely paralysed compared to 5% metaldehyde pellets, where a greater proportion of slugs were either dead or had recovered. Paralysis on the soil surface is likely to play a large role in slug control by metaldehyde pellets (Howitt and Cole 1962), facilitating predation from natural predators or increasing the risk of dehydration from sunlight.

Trials of an inorganic controlled release technology (chapter 5) showed that development of microencapsulated metaldehyde is still very much in its infancy, however there is much opportunity for further research and development in this area. More targeted and precise delivery of slug pellets will be essential in improving the efficiency of slug control while reducing risk to the wider environment (Tsuji 1999). Coating a commercial slug pellet was predicted to hide the pellet temporarily from the slug so that it could be arrested into feeding on the iCRT coating and eventually the pellet, however it is likely that chemical reactions between the pellet and coating made the pellet unpalatable to the slug. Pellet acceptance and palatability was decided to be the most crucial aspect of testing a novel molluscicide, and for this reason iCRT pellets were presented to individual slugs in Petri dishes. By placing *D. reticulatum* in close proximity to the pellet the chance of pellet encounter was greater when compared to in an arena, and also allowed clearer measurements of pellet consumption to be made. Though pellet consumption levels were subjective, the consumption scale developed allowed for accurate measurements of consumption to be taken.

## 5.3 Metaldehyde Ban

On the 19<sup>th</sup> of September 2018, it was announced by the Department for Environment, food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) that the outdoor use of metaldehyde would be banned as of Spring 2020, with usage only permitted to permanent greenhouses. The ban was announced upon the advice of UK Expert Committee on Pesticides (ECP) and the Health and Safety Executive (HSE), reasoning that metaldehyde presents "an unacceptable risk to birds and mammals" (DEFRA 2018). Growers and manufacturers were given an 18-month time frame in order to sell metaldehyde until June 2019 and use up supplies until the following June 2020. The announcement by DEFRA stated that the ban may reduce the possibility of polluting drinking water but emphasised that this was not a factor in the decision making from the advice of the ECP and HSE.

Shortly after the ban was announced, Chiltern Farm Chemicals, who are one of the U. K's largest suppliers of slug pellets, started judicial proceedings in order to challenge the government's decision. The ban was declared unlawful and overturned due to flawed decision making (BC Legal 2019). The overturning of the ban was of much relief amongst farmers and growers, from whom had described the ban as a "massive blow" for the industry (Case 2019) due to the predicted higher costs of application of ferric phosphate. The ban has subsequently been reinstated as of 18<sup>th</sup> September 2020, and that the outdoor use of metaldehyde will be banned as of the end of March 2022 (DEFRA 2020).

The ban is likely to lead to the increase in the application of ferric phosphate on arable land as the main commercial molluscicide available for large scale agricultural use. Ferric phosphate is, on average, more expensive to apply at  $\pounds 17-24$ / ha compared to metaldehyde at  $\pounds 10-15$ /ha, which is likely to have a large impact on farming translating to increased produce costs. There is little research into the effects of increased application of ferric phosphate on land, and while it is sold and marketed as an organic pesticide, it is likely that the included chelating agents (usually EDTA) are responsible for the binding on iron phosphate inside the slug gut which interferes with calcium metabolism causing slug mortality (Rae et al. 2009, Speiser and Kistler 2002). Increased application of ferric phosphate may lead to an increase

in non-target poisonings, and there is evidence that the molluscicide causes increased mortality in earthworm populations (Langan and Shaw 2006).

The ban of metaldehyde in the UK will lead to challenges for growers seeking alternative slug control that is economically viable and may also lead to an increase in evidence of non-target poisonings, which the government stated the reason being for the ban of metaldehyde. The removal of metaldehyde from agricultural land should lead to a decrease in metaldehyde pollution in water systems, reducing pressure from water companies.

#### **5.4 Final Conclusions**

Metaldehyde is still used by growers in 23 EU member states and research into improving the stability of pellets is essential in order to reduce water pollution risks after application. New technologies such as inorganic controlled release substances allow for the potential for molluscicides such as metaldehyde to be included into a pellet in a way that makes the pellet more stable for holding metaldehyde, but also more palatable to slugs and therefore more effective as a control means. This research has demonstrated that *D. reticulatum* is extremely sensitive to metaldehyde, however, will accept and feed on pellets of low concentrations but not necessarily receive a lethal dose after feeding. Delivery of a lethal dose of metaldehyde is challenging, and manufactures should consider that lower concentration pellets that will arrest the slug in feeding potentially long enough for a substantial dose of metaldehyde to severely paralyse the slug on the soil surface, while slugs are more likely to reject metaldehyde pellets of higher concentrations. Encouragement of natural predators by farmers (increasing field margins, hedges and set aside) will aid in the control of slugs alongside molluscicide use, as should be included in any integrated pest management scheme (Macfadyen et al. 2014).

Advances in integrated pest management (IPM) could see the reliance on synthetic pesticides for agricultural crop pest control reduced in the years to come. Improvements to biological control, pest forecasting, mechanical and farming practices (Buhler et al. 2000, Huffaker 1985, Yenumula and Prabhakar 2012) as well as improvements to in field data collection, and the incorporation of economic analysis to management plans could inform growers on better farming practices to achieve maximum crop yield with less dependence on synthetic pesticides (Lima et al. 2011).

The likely increase in ferric phosphate use in UK agriculture should be monitored for its effects on water and soil pollution and quality, as well as impacts on non-target organisms. More research confirming the efficacy of ferric phosphate by a combination of laboratory and field studies could predict a more accurate slug mortality rate, which could be used to educate growers about the potential benefits of ferric phosphate as a molluscicide. The removal of metaldehyde from the UK market presents an opportunity for further innovation in the slug

pellet industry and more sustainable agriculture, with a focus on molluscicides that are not only effective at controlling slug populations, but present minimal risk to the environment. Bibliography

Airey WJ (1987) The Influence of Food Deprivation on the Locomotor Activity of Slugs. Journal of Molluscan Studies 53:37-45

Aktar WM Sengupta D Chowdhury A (2009) Impact of Pesticides Use in Agriculture: Their Benefits and Hazards. Interdisciplinary Toxicology 2:1-12

AM Taylor A Wheater (2004) Effects of Metaldehyde and Methiocarb on Feeding Preferences and Survival of a Slug Predator (*Pterostichus melanarius* (F.): Carabidae, Pterostichini). Journal of Applied Entomology 128:51-55

Anthony GS Brettell N Hewson-Fisher K Hockridge B Hughes GO Lyons HL Pepper TJ Twining S Wilson L (2015) Pesticide Risk Mapping and Catchment Interventions. Phase 1 Report Ref No. 15/DW/14/11, UK Water Industry Research Limited

Archard GA Bohan DA Hughes L Wiltshire CW (2005) Spatial Sampling to Detect Slug Abundance in an Arable Field. Annals of Applied Biology 145:165-173

Arias- Estevez M Lopez- Periago E Martinez- Carballo E Simal-Gandara J Mejuto JC Garcia-Rio L (2007) The Mobility and Degradation of Pesticides in Soils and the Pollution of Groundwater Resources. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 123: 247-260

Arias RO Crowell HH (1963) A Contribution to the Biology of the Grey Garden Slug. Bulletin of the South California Academy of Sciences 62:83-97

Attademo AM Lajmanovich RC Peltzer PM Junges CM (2016) Acute Toxicity of Metaldehyde in the Invasive Rice Snail *Pomacea canaliculate* and Sublethal Effects on Tadpoles of a Non Target Species (*Rhinella arenarum*). Water, Air and Soil Pollution 227: 400-412

Autin O Hart J Jarvis P MacAdam J Parsons SA Jefferson (2013) Comparisons of UV/TIO<sub>2</sub> and UV/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> Processes in an Annular Photoreactor for Removal of Micropollutants: Influence of Water Parameters on Metaldehyde Removal, Quantum Yields and Energy Consumption. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 138:268-275 Ayre K (1995) Evaluation of Carabids as Predators of Slugs on Arable Land. Newcastle University thesis.

Bailey SER (1989) Foraging Behaviour of Terrestrial Gastropods: Integrating Field and Laboratory Studies. Journal of Molluscan Studies 55:263-272

Bailey SER Molluscicidal baits for control of terrestrial gastropods. In *Molluscs as Crop Pests*; Barker, G.M., Ed.; CABI Publishing: Wallingford, UK, 2002; pp. 33-54.

Bailey SER Wedgwood MA (1991) Complimentary Video and Acoustic Recordings of Foraging by Two Pest Species of Slugs on Non Toxic and Molluscicidal Baits. Annals Applied Biology 119:163-176

Baker GM (2001) Gastropods on Land: Phylogeny, Diversity and Adaptive Morphology. The Biology of Terrestrial Molluscs. CABI Publishing, UK

Barlow SE Close AJ Port GR (2013) The Acceptability of Meadow Plants to the Slug *Deroceras reticulatum* and Implications for Grassland Restoration. Annals of Botany 112(4):721-730

BC Legal. Defra's Molluscicide Ban Overturned by High Court- An Update. BC Legal BC Disease News. https://www.bc-legal.co.uk/bcdn/1011-294-defra-s-molluscicide-ban-overturned-by-high-court-an-update#\_edn5 Accessed January 2021

Bhusal P Harrison J Sharma M Jones DS Hill AG Svirskis D (2016) Controlled Release Drug Delivery Systems to Improve Post Operative Pharmacotherapy. Drug Delivery and Translational Research 6:441-451

Bourne NB Jones GW Bowden ID (1990) Feeding Behaviour and Mortality of the slug *Deroceras reticulatum* in Relation to Control with Molluscicdal Baits Containing Various Combinations of Metaldehyde with Methiocarb. Annals of Applied Biology 117:455-468 Bourne NB Jones GW Bowen ID (1988) Slug Feeding Behaviour in Relation to Control With Molluscicidal Baits. Journal of Molluscan Studies 54:327-338

Bowen ID (1970) The fine structural localization of acid phosphatase in the gut epithelial cells of the slug, *Avion ater* (L.). Protoplasm 70:47–260 Bowen ID Antoine S (1995) Molluscicide Formulation Studies. International Journal of Pest Management 41:74-78

Buhler DD Liebman M Obrycki JJ (2000) Theoretical and Practical Challenges to an IPM Approach to Weed Management. Weed Science 48:274-280

Burgess RSL and Ennos RA (1987) Selective Grazing of Acyanogenic White Clover: Variation in Behaviour Among Populations of the Slug *Deroceras reticulatum*. Oecologia 73:432-435

Burgess RSL Ennos RA (1987) Selective Grazing of Acyanogenic White Clover: Variation in Behaviour Among Populations of the Slug *Deroceras reticulatum*. Oecologia 73:432-435

Bursztyka P Saffray D Lafont-Lecuelle C Brin A Pageat P (2013) Chemical Compounds Related to the Predation Risk Posed by Malacophagous Ground Beetles After Self-Maintenance Behaviour of Naïve Slugs (*Deroceras reticulatum*). PLOS ONE (DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079361

Bursztyka P Saffray D Lafont-Lecuelle Teruel E Leclercq J Brin A Pageat P (2016) The Foraging Behaviour of the Slug *Deroceras reticulatum (Muller)* is Modified in the Presence of Cuticular Scents from a Carabid Beetle. Journal of Molluscan Studies 82:314-319

Cameron R (2016) Slugs and Snails. Collins New Naturalist Library, Book 133, HarperCollins UK

Cao L Zhang H Cao C Zhang J Li F Huang Q (2016) Quaternized Chitosan- Capped Mesoporous Silica Nanoparticles as Nanocarriers for Controlled Pesticide Release. Nanomaterials 6:126 Carson R (1962) Silent Spring. Boston Houghton Mifflin

Case P (2019) Metaldehyde Ban is a Massive Blow for Growers. Farmers Weekly Available at: fwi.co.uk/arable (Accessed 1 January 2019). Castle GD Mills GA Gravell A Jones L Townsend I Cameron DG Fones (2017) Review of the Mollusicide Metaldehyde in the Environment. Environmental Science: Water Research and Technology 3:415-428

Chase R (2002) Behaviour and its Neural Control in Gastropod Molluscs. Oxford University Press, UK

Chase R Pryer K Baker R Madison D (1978) Responses to Conspecific Chemical Stimuli in the Terrestrial Snail *Achatina fulica* (Pulmonata: Sigmurethra) Behavioural Biology 22:302-315

Choi Y Bohan D Powers S Wiltshire C Glen D Semenov M (2004) Modelling *Deroceras reticulatum* (Gastropoda) Population Dynamics Based on Daily Temperature and Rainfall. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 103:519-525

Colgan PW (1990) Embattled Ethology. Perspectives in Ethology 8:278

Cook A (1977) Mucus Trail Following by the Slug *Limax grossui* Lupu. Animal Behaviour 25:774-781

Cook A (1979) Homing by the Slug *Limax pseudoflavus*. Animal Behaviour 27:545-552

Cook A (1992) The Function of Trail Following in the Pulmonate Slug, *Limax pseudoflavus*. Animal Behaviour 43:813-821

Cook RT Bailey SER McCrohan (1996) Slug Preferences for Winter Wheat Cultivars and Common Agricultural Weeds. Journal of Applied Ecology 33:866-872 Cordoba M Millar JG McDonnell (2018) Development of a High Throughput Laboratory Bioassay for Testing Potential Attractants for Terrestrial Snails and Slugs. Journal of Economic Entomology 111:637-644

Cragg JB Vincent MH (1952) The Action of Metaldehyde on the Slug *Agriolimax reticulatus* (Muller). Annals of Applied Biology 39:392-406

Crawford- Sidebotham TJ (1970) Differential Susceptibility of Species of Slugs to Metaldehyde/ Bran and to Methiocarb Baits. Oecologia 5:303=324

Croll RP (1983) Gastropod Chemoreception. Biological Reviews 58:293-319

Dainton BH (1954) The Activity of Slugs. Journal of Experimental Biology 31:188-197

Davey A Hall T Horn J Jonsson J Keirle R (2014) Evidence Review of Catchment Strategies for Managing Metaldehyde Report Ref. No. 13/DW/14/7. UK Water Industry Research Limited

Davis MS Hawkins SJ (1998) Mucus from Marine Molluscs. Advances in Marine Biology 34:1-71

Dent D (2000) Insect Pest Management 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. CABI Publishing, Wallingford UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA)(2018) Restrictions on the Use of Metaldehyde to Protect Wildlife. DEFRA Available at: gov.uk/government/news/restrictions-on-the-use-of-metaldehyde-to-protect-wildlife (Accessed 20 January 2019)

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs DEFRA (2010) A Review of Slug Control in Winter Cereal and Oilseed Rape. DEFRA Research Project Final Report project code PS2803 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs DEFRA (2020) Outdoor Use of Metaldehyde to be Banned to Protect Wildlife. DEFRA Press Release Available at: gov.uk/government/news

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, DEFRA (2020) A Review of Slug Control In Winter Wheat and Oilseed Rape. Research Project Final Report available at http://sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Document.aspx?Document=PS2803\_9390\_FRP.do Derby CD Sorensen PW (2008) Neural Processing, Perception, and Behavioural Responses to Natural Chemical Stimuli by Fish and Crustaceans. Journal of Chemical Ecology 34: 898-914

Deyrup-Olsen I and Martin AW (1982) Surface Exudation in Terrestrial Slugs. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 72:45-51

Dizro R (1980) Experimental Studies on Plant-Slug Interactions- The Acceptability of Thirty Plant Species to the Slug *Agriolimax caruanae*. Journal of Ecology 68:981-998

Doria FC Borges AC Kim JK Nathan A Joo JC Campos LC (2013) Removal of Metaldehyde Through Photocatalytic Reactions Using Nano Sized Zinc Oxide Composites. Water Air Soil Pollution 224:1434-1443

Douglas MR and Tooker JF (2012) Slug (Mollusca: Agriolimacidae, Ariondae) Ecology and Management in No Till Field Crops, with an Emphasis on the mid-Atlantic Region. Journal of Integrated Pest Management 3(1): 1-9

Dunlap TR (2008) DDT, Silent Spring and the Rise of Environmentalism. University of Washington Press JSTOR Available at: jstor.org/stable/j.ctvcwnrw5 (Accessed 20 November 2019)

Edwards CA Arancon NQ Vasko-Bennett M Little B Askar A (2009) The Relative Toxicity of Metaldehyde and Iron Phosphate Based Mollusicicdes to Earthworms. Crop Protection 28:289-294 EU Pesticides Database (2021) Active Substance Detail: Metaldehyde. Available at: ec.europa.eu/food/plant/pesticides/eu-pesticides-database (Accessed 10 February 2021).

European Food Safety Authority (2010) Conclusion on the Peer Reivew of the Pesticide Risk Assessment of the Active Substance Metaldehyde. European Food Safety Authority (DOI: 10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1856)

Flint ML and Bosch RVD (1981) Introduction to Integrated Pest Management. Springer US

Forbes E Back MA Brooks A Petrovskaya NB Petrovskii SV Pope TW Walters KFA (2020) Locomotor Behaviour Promotes Stability of the Patchy Distribution of Slugs in Arable Fields: Tracking the Movement of Individual *Deroceras reticulatum*. Pest Management Science 76:2944-2952

Forbes E Back M Brooks A Petrovskava NB Petrovskii SV Pope T Walters FA (2020) Stability of Patches of Higher Population Density within the Heterogenous Distribution of the Gray Field Slug Deroceras reticulatum in Arable Fields in the UK. Insects 12:9

Garthwaite D Ridley L Mace A Parrish G Barker I Rainford J McArthur R (2019) Arable Crops in the United Kingdom. Pesticide Usage Survey Report 284. Available at: secure.fera.defra.gov.uk/pusstats/surveys/documents/arable2018.pdf (Accessed 8 June 2020).

Gething KJ Pickwell A Chadd RP Wood P (2020) The Effects of Metaldehyde on Non Target Aquatic Macroinvertebrates: Integrating Field and Laboratory Based Evidence. Environmental Pollution (DIO 10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115015)

Glen DM (2000) The Effects of Cultural Measures on Cereal Pests and Their Role in Integrated Pest Management. Integrated Pest Management Reviews 5: 25-40

Glen DM Milsom NF Wiltshire CW (1986) Evaluation of a Mixture Containing Copper Sulphate, Aluminium Sulphate and Borax for Control of Slug Damage to Potatoes. Annals of Applied Biology 108:26-27
Glen DM Milsom NF Wiltshire CW (1989) Effects of Seed-Bed Cultivations on Slug Numbers and Damage to Winter Wheat in a Clay Soil. Annals of Applied Biology 115:177-190

Glen DM Spaull AM Mowat DJ Greena DB Jackson W (1993) Crop monitoring to assess the risk of slug damage to winter wheat in the United Kingdom. Annals of Applied Biology 122:161-172 Godan D (1983) Pest Slugs and Snails Biology and Control. Springer – Verlag Berlin Heidelberg pp. 174-175

Godfray GHJ Beddington JR Crute IR Haddad L Lawrence D Muir JF Pretty J Thomas SM Toulmin C (2010) Food Security: The Challenge of Feeding 9 Billion People. Science 327: 812-818

Grubišic D Gotlin Čuljak T Mešić A. Juran I Loparić A. Starčević D Brmež M Benković Lačić T (2018) Slug Control In Leafy Vegetable Using *Nematode Phasmarhabditis Hermaphrodita* (Schneider) Applied Ecology and Environmental Research 16:1739-1749

Gupta RC (2007) Metaldehyde. Veterinary Toxicology. Academic Press pp.518-521

Haines CP (2000) IMP for Food Storage in Developing Countries: 20<sup>th</sup> Century Aspirations for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century. Crop Protection 19: 825-830

Hamilton PA and Wellington WG (1981) The Effects of Food Denisty and the Movement of *Arion ater* and *Ariolimax columbianus* (Pulmonata: Stylommatophora) Betweek Habitats. Researches on Population Ecology 23:299-308

Hanley ME Fenner M Edwards PJ (1995) The Effect of Seedling Age on the Likelihood of Herbivory by the Slug *Deroceras reticulatum*. Functional Ecology 9:754-759

Henderson IF Martin AP Perry JN (1992) Improving Slug Baits: The Effects of SomePhagostimulants and Molluscicides on Ingestion by the Slug, *Deroceras reticulatum* (Miiler)(Pulmonata: Limacidae) Annals of Applied Biology 121:423-430

Horgan AR (2006) The Potential for Slug Control With Ferric Phosphate. Aspects of Applied Biology 79225-226

Horgan AR Shakespear P Hingley P (2006) Ferric Phosphate: Novel Slug and Snail Product. Proceedings Crop Protection in Northern Britain pp. 371-374

Howitt AJ Cole SG (1962) Chemical Control of Slugs Affecting Vegetables and Strawberries in the Pacific North West. Journal of Economic Entomology 55:320-325

Howlett S Shirley MDF Port GR (2005) Seasaonal and Temperature Effects on the Growth Rate and Survival of Deroceras reticulatum. Thesis Newcastle University

Howling GG (1991) Slug Foraging Behaviour: Attraction to Food Items From a Distance. Annals of Applied Biology 119:147-153

Hunter K (1995) The Poisoning of Non Target Animals. Pesticides – Developments, Impacts and Controls. Elsevier

Hunter PJ (1968) Studies on Slugs of Arable Ground II. Life cycle. Malacologica 6:379-389

Huffaker CB (1985) Biological Control in Integrated Pest Management: An Entomological Perspective. In Biology Control in Agriculture IPM System. Academic Press Inc, London pp.13

Ibrahim M Gilfoyle IH Reynolds R Voulvoilis N (2019) Integrated Catchment Management for Reducing Pesticide Levels in Water: Engaging with Stakeholders in East Anglia to Tackle Metaldehyde. Science of the Total Environment 656:1436-1447

Iglesias J Casrillegjo J Castro R (2003) The Effets of Repeated Applications of the Molluscicide Metaldehyde and the Biocontrol nematode *Phasmarhabditis hermaphrodita* on Molluscs, Earthworms, Nematodes, Acarids and Collembolands: a Two Year Study in North West Spain. Pest Management Science 59:1217-1224 Knowles A (2007) Recent Developments of Safer Formulations of Agrochemicals. The Environmentalist 28:35-44

Lai JH Alamo JCD Rodriguez-Rodriguez J Lasheras JC (2010) The Mechanism of Adhesive Locomotion of Terrestrial Slugs. Journal of Experimental Biology 213:3920-3933

Langan AM Pilkington G Wheater CP (2001) Feeding Preferences of a Predatory Beetle (*Pterostichus madidus*) for Slugs Exposed to Lethal and Sub Lethal Dosages of Metaldehyde. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata 2:245-248

Langan AM Shaw EM (2006) Responses of the Earthworm *Lumbricus terrestris* (*L*) to Iron Phosphate and Metaldehyde Slug Pellets. Applied Soil Ecology 34:184-189

Langer R and Peppas N (2006) Chemical and Physical Structure of Polymers as Carriers for Controlled Release of Bioactive Agents: A Review. Journal of Macromolecular Science 23:61-126

Lauga E (2006) Tuning Gastropod Locomotion: Modelling the Influence of Mucus Rheology on the Cost of Crawling. Physics of Fluids 18

Leake AR (2003) Integrated Pest Management for Conservation Agriculture 271-279

Levitis DA Lidicker WZ Freund G (2009) Behavioural Biologists Don't Agree on What Constitutes Behaviour. Animal Behaviour 78:103-110

Lewis BD and Gower MD (1980) External Stimuli, Internal Factors and Behaviour. Biology of Comunication: Tertiary Level Biology. Springer, New York

Liechty WB Peppas N (2012) Expert Opinion: Responsive Polymer Nanoparticles in Cancer Therapy. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics 80:241-246 Lima EAB Wesley A Godoy C Claudia PF (2011) Integrated Pest Management and Spatial Structure. In Insecticides: Advances in Integrated Pest Management. InTech, Croatia pp.5

Lonza (2019) Why Axcela® Works. Lonza Group Ltd.

https://Axcela®.lonza.com/Axcela®/why-Axcela®-works Date accessed January 2021. Ma G and Ma CS (2012) Effect of Acclimation on Heat Escape Temeratures of Two Aphid Species: Implications for Estimating Behavioural Response of Insects to Climate Warming. Journal of Insect Physiology 58:1456-1462

Macfadyen S Davis AP Zalucki MP (2014) Assessing the Impact of Arthropod Natural Enemies on Crop Pests and the Field Scale. Insect Science 22:20-34

Magurran AE Seghers BH Carvalho GR Shaw PW (1993) Evolution of Adaptive Variation in Antipredator Behaviour. Marine Behaviour and Physiology 23:29-44

Mair J and Port GR (2002) Predation of the Carabid Beetles *Pterostichus madidus* and *Nebria brevicollis* is Affected by Size and Condition of the Prey Slug *Deroceras reticulatum*. Agricultural and Forest Entomology 3(2):99-106

Matsuo Y Yamanaka A Matsuo R (2018) RFamidergic Neurons in the Olfactory Centres of the Terrestrial Slug *Limax*. Zoological Letters 4:22 Metaldehyde Stewardship Group (2020) Get Pelletwise. Available at: getpelletwise.co.uk (Accessed 1 October 2019)

Morton B (1979) The Diurnal and the Cycle of Feeding and Digestion in the Slug *Deroceras caruanae*. Journal of Zoology 187:135-152

Mueller – Warrant G Anderson N Sullivan C Whittaker G Trippe K (2014) Can Knowledge of Spatial Variability in Slug Populations Help Improve Stand Establishment? Seed Production Research, Oregon State University 151:4-13

Nair KSS (1985) Role of Behavioural Studies in the Development of Management Strategies for Forest Insect Pests. Proceedings: Animal Sciences 94:341-350 Nicholls CJ (2014) Implications of Not Controlling Slugs in Oilseed Rape and Wheat in the UK. Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board Research Review No. 79 Available at: ahdb.org.uk/implications-of-not-controlling-slugs-in-oilseed-rape-and-wheat (Accessed 10 March 2019)

North America Pesticide Action Network (2020) The DDT Story. North America Pesticide Action Network Available at: panna.org/resources/ddt-story (Accessed 10 February 2018) Park DJ Jackson RW McKinnon IR Marshall M (1999) Controlled Release of Pesticides from Microplastics. In Controlled- Release Delivery Systems for Pesticides. Marcel Dekker, New York pp. 97-98

Nuruzzaman MD Rahman MM Liu Y Naidu R (2016) Nanoencapsulation, Nano- Guard for Pesticides- A New Window for Safe Application. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 64:1447-1483

Oliveira JL de Campos EVR Fraceto LF (2018) Recent Developments and Challenges for Nanoscale Formulation of Botanical Pesticides for Use in Sustainable Agriculture. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 66:8898-8913

Pavlova G (2010) Muscular Waves Contribute to Gliding Rate in the Freshwater Gastropod *Lymnea stagnalis*. Journal of Comparative Physiology 196:241-448

Pavlova G (2019) The Similarity of Crawling Mechanisms in Aquatic and Terrestrial Gastropods. Journal of Comparative Physiology. A, Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural and Behavioural Physiology 205:1-11

Petrovskaya NB Forbes E Petrovskii SV Walters KA (2018) Towards the Development of a More Accurate Monitoring Procedure for Invertebrate Populations, in the Presences of an Unknown Spatial Pattern of Distribution in the field. Insects 9:29 Petrovskaya NB Ellis JR Forbes E Walters KFA (2020) Modelling a Targeted Use of Pesticide Procedure for Pest Populations with Heterogeneous Spatial Distributions. Ecological Modelling 427:1-15

Pickett JA and Stephenson JW (1980) Plant Volatiles and Components Influencing the
Behaviour of the Field Slug, *Deroceras reticulatum* (Mull). Journal of Chemical Ecology
6:435-444
Poole CP Owens FJ (2003) Introduction to Nanotechnology. John Wiley & Sons Inc,

Hoboken, New Jersey pp.1

Prior DJ (1984) Analysis of Contact Rehydration in Terrestrial Gastropods: Osmotic Control of Drinking Behaviour. Journal of Experimental Biology 111:63-74 Prior DJ Hume M Varga D Hess SD (1983) Physiological and Behavioural Aspects of Water Balance and Respiritory Function in the Terrestrial Slug, *Limax maximus*. Journal of Experimental Biology 104:111-127

R Core Team (2020) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL www.R-project.org

Rae RG Robertson JF Wilson MJ (2008) Susceptibility and Immune Response of *Deroceras reticulatum, Milax gagates* and *Limax pseudoflavus* Exposed to the Parasitic Nematode *Phasmarhabditis hermaphrodita.* Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 97(1):61-69

Rae RG Robertson JF Wilson MJ (2009) Optimisation of biological (*Phasmarhabditis hermaphrodita*) and chemical (iron phosphate and metaldehyde) slug control. Crop Protection 9:765-773

Ragaei M Sabry A (2014) Nanotechnology for Insect Pest Control. International Journal of Science, Environment and Technology 3:528-545

Rodriguez MA Brown VK (1998) Plant Competition and Slug Herbivory: Effects on the Yield and Biomass Allocation Pattern of *Poa annua* L. Acta Oecologica 19:37-46

Rolph CA Jefferson B Hassard F Villa (2018) Metaldehyde Removal from Drinking Water by Absorption onto Filtration Media: Mechanisms and Optimisation. Environmental Sciences: Water Research and Technology 4:1543-1552

Roy A Singh S Bajpai J Bajpai A (2014) Controlled Pesticide Release from Biodegradable Polymers. Open Chemistry 12:453-469 Saad AM Ismail SW Dahalan FA (2017) Metaldehyde Toxicity: A Brief on Three Different Perspectives. Journal of Civil Engineering, Science and Technology 8:108-114 Seamen D (1990) Trends in the Formulation of pesticides- an Overview. Pesticide Science 29- 437-449

Sheng W Ma S Li W Liu Z Guo X Jia X (2015) A Facile Route to Fabricate a Biodegradable Hydrogel for Controlled Pesticide Release. RSC Advances 5:13876-13870

Simms LC Mullins CE Wilson MJ (2002) Seed Dressings to Control Slug Damaged in Oilseed Rape. Pest Management Science 58:687-694

Shirley MDF Rushton S Young AG Port GR (2001) Simulating long term dynamics of slug populations: a process based modelling approach for pest control. Journal of Applied Ecology 38:401-411

Singh A Nitesh D Kumar A Singh D Purohit MP Ghosh D Patnaik S (2020) Advances in Controlled Release Pesticide Formulations: Prospects to Safer Integrated Pest Management and Sustainable Agriculture. Journal of Hazardous Materials 385:1-20

Sokolove PG Beiswanger CM Prior DJ Gelperin A (1977) A circadian rhythm in the locomotive behaviour of the giant garden slug *Limax maximus*. Journal of Experimental Biology 66:47-64

South A (1965) Biology and Ecology of *Agriolimax reticulatus Muller* and Other Slugs: Spatial Distribution. Journal of Animal Ecology 34:403-417 South A (1992) Vascular system, water relations and nitrogenous excretion. Terrestrial Slugs. Springer, Dordrecht pp. 80-96

Sparks TC (2013) Insecticide Discovery: An Evaluation and Analysis. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology 107:8017

Spaull AM Eldon S (1990) Is it Possible to Limit Slug Damage Using Choice of Winter Wheat Cultivars? Proceedings Brighton Crop Protection Conference- Pest and Diseases 2:703-708

Speiser B Kistler C (2002) Field Tests with a Molluscicide Containing Iron Phosphate. Crop Protection 21:389-394

Stenberg JA (2017) A Conceptual Framework for Integrated Pest Management. Trends Plant Science 22:759-769

Storr T Simmons RW Hannam J (2019) A UK Survey of the Use and Management of Cover Crops. Annals of Applied Biology (DOI: 10.111/aab.12488)

Tanaka Y Ito K Nakagaki T Kobayashi R (2012) Mechanisms of Peristaltic Locomotion and Role of Anchoring. Journal of The Royal Society Interface 9:222-233

Taylor RJ (1977) the Value of Clumping to Prey. Oecologia 30:285-294

Terrence PT Saltin SH Davies MS Johannesson K Stafford R Williams GA (2013) Snails and Their Trails: The Multiple Functions of Trail Following in Gastropods. Biological Reviews 88:683-700

Tinbergen N (1963) On Aims and Methods of Ethology. Ethology 20:410-433

Triebskorn R Christensen K Heim G (1988) Effects of Orally and Dermally Applied Metaldehyde on Mucus Cells of Slugs (*Deroceras reticulatum*) Depending on Temperature and Duration of Exposure. Journal of Molluscan Studies 64:467-487 Tsuji K (1999) Application and Particle Design of Insecticide Microcapsules. In Controlled-Release Delivery Systems for Pesticides. Marcel Dekker, New York pp. 55

Tucker VA (1970) Energetic Cost of Locomotion in Animals. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 34:841-846 Wareing DR (1986) Direction Trail Following in *Deroceras reticulatum* (Muller). Journal of Molluscan Studies 52:256-258

Wedgwood MA Bailey SER (1986) The Analysis of Single Meals in Slugs Feeding on Molluscicidal Baits. Journal of Molluscan Studies 52:259-260

Wedgwood MA Bailey SER (1988) The Inhibitory Effects of Molluscicide Metaldehyde on Feeding, Locomotion and Faecal Elimination of Three Pest Species of a Terrestrial Slug. Annals of Applied Biology 112:439-457

Whelan RJ (1982) Response of Slugs to Unacceptable Food Items. Journal of Applied Ecology 19:79-87

Willis JC Bohan DA Choi YH Conrad KF Semenov MA (2006) Use of an Individual Based Model to Forecast the Effect of Climate Change on the Dynamics, Abundance and Geographical Range of the Pest Slug *Deroceras reticulatum* in the UK. Global Change Biology 12:1643-1657

Wilson M Wilson D Burch G Cotching B (2014) Effects of Simulated Rainfall on Two Contrasting Metaldehyde Slug Baits. Agronomy New Zealand 44:95-101 World Health Organisation (1996) Metaldehyde. WHO/FAO Data Sheets on Pesticides 93 Available at: apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/63291

Wright AA Williams R (1980) The Effect of Molluscicides on the Consumption of Bait by Slugs. Journal of Molluscan Studies 46:265-281

Wright T Huddart H (1999) Electrophysiological and pharmacological characteristics of buccal smooth muscle of the pest slug *Deroceras reticulatum*. Journal Comparative Physiology 169:561–568

Yenumula GP Prabhakar M (2012) Pest Monitoring and Forecasting. In: Integrated Pest Management: Principals and Practice. CABI, Oxfordshire, UK. Pp 41

Young AG Port GR Emmet BJ Green DI (1993) Development of a Forecast of Slug Activity: Validation of Models to Predict Slug Activity from Meteorological Conditions. Crop Protection 12:232-236

Zhang HY Wang C Lu HZ Guan WB Ma YQ (2011) Residues and Dissipation Dynamics of Molluscide Metaldhdye in Cabbage and Soil. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 74: 1653-1658

Zhang XY and Dai XF (2006) Degredation and Determination of the Residue of Metaldehyde in Tobacco and Soil. Chinese Journal of Pesticide Science 8:344-348 **Appendix 1: Pellet Baiting Points** 



Appendix 1 Pellet baiting points and slug location in arena. Slugs are represented by "X" and slug pellets by blue circles. Slugs were placed at equidistant locations around the outside of pellets at the beginning of each trial.

**Appendix 2: Slug Pellet Formulations** 

	Flour	Oil	99.9% Metaldehyde	Commercial formulation	iCRT Metaldehyde	iCRT control
1% metaldehyde	✓	✓	✓			
3% metaldehyde	✓	√	$\checkmark$			
5% metaldehyde	✓	✓	✓			
3% Axcela® metaldehyde				√		
Non toxic pellet				$\checkmark$		
iCRT metaldehyde	✓	√			$\checkmark$	
iCRT Axcela® coated Pellet				$\checkmark$		✓
iCRT control pellet						✓
Sluxx ferric phosphate 3%				√		

Appendix 2 Contents of pellets used in chapters 3, 4 and 5. Olive oil was added to flour containing pellets in 1 ml drops in order to form a malleable dough. Inorganic control release technology (iCRT) was provided by Lucideon LTD at metaldehyde concentrations of 4.8 and 2.4%.